

Prevention Study Group Primary Prevention Trial

PROTOCOL

version 1.4 July 14, 2008

Sponsored by National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases National Institutes of Health

NIDDK NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF DIABETES AND DIGESTIVE AND KIDNEY DISEASES



Maintained and distributed by HEALTHY Coordinating Center George Washington University Biostatistics Center 6110 Executive Boulevard, Suite 750 Rockville, MD 20852

Table of Contents

1	Executive Summary and Overview	3
2	Introduction	4
3	Overall Objectives	5
	3.1 Primary	5
	3.2 Secondary	5
4	Background, Significance, and Rationale	6
	4.1 Pathophysiological Risks Related to T2D in Adolescents	6
	4.1.1 Obesity	7
	4.1.2 Influence of Diet and Activity on Insulin Resistance	
	4.2 Previous Interventions	8
	4.2.1 Prevention of T2D	8
	4.2.2 School-based Efforts	9
_	4.3 Rationale for the Current Protocol	10
5	Study Design	13
	5.1 Eligibility	14
	5.1.1 School	14
	5.1.2 Students	14
	5.2 Recruitment and Retention Strategies	15
	5.2.1 Recruitment	15
	5.2.2 Retention	
	5.3 Informed Consent and Assent	17
	5.4 Participant Compensation	
	5.5 Privacy and Confidentiality	20
	5.6 Treatment Arms	20
	5.6.1 Intervention	20
	5.6.2 Control	
6	Integrated Intervention Components	23
	6.1 Physical Education Intervention	23
	6.1.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies	23
	6.1.2 Schedule and Delivery	
	6.2 Nutrition/Food Environment Intervention	
	6.2.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies	25
	6.2.2 Schedule and Delivery	
	6.3 Behavior Intervention	27
	6.3.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies	27
	6.3.2 Schedule and Delivery	
	6.3.2.1 In-class Activities: Fun Learning Activities for Student Health (FLASH)	
	6.3.2.2 Behavior Change Initiatives: Self-monitoring Campaigns	
	6.3.2.3 Family Outreach	
	6.4 School-wide Communications	
	6.4.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies	
	6.4.2 Schedule and Delivery	
7	Measurements and Evaluations	
	7.1 Primary and Secondary Outcome Measures	
	7.2 Outcomes and Data Collection Schedule	
	7.3 Procedures and Instruments	
	7.3.1 Demographics and Descriptive Characteristics	
	7.3.2 Health Screening	
	7.3.2.1 Anthropometrics, Blood Pressure, and Fasting Blood	

7.3.2.2 Se	exual Maturity (Tanner Stage)	
7.3.3 Phys	ical Activity Intervention	
7.3.3.1 Å	ctivity Level in PE Class (Heart Rate Monitor)	
7.3.3.2 Fi	tness (20-Meter Shuttle Test)	
7.3.3.3 Se	elf-report Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior (SAPAC)	
7.3.4 Nutr	ition Intervention	
7.3.4.1 Se	elf-report Diet/Nutrient Intake (FFO)	
7.3.4.2 Sc	chool Food Environment	
7.3.5 Beha	avior Intervention	
7.3.5.1 FI	ASH Self-Assessment Score	
7.3.6 Econ	nomic Cost-Effectiveness	
7.3.6.1 He	ealth Related Quality of Life	
7.3.6.2 In	tervention Resource Expenditure and Outlay	
7.3.7 Scho	ol Academic Performance	
7.3.8 Envi	ronmental Influence	
7.3.9 Proc	ess Evaluation	
8 Personnel and	Training	
8.1 Study Sta	ff	
8.2 School Pe	ersonnel	
8.3 Training.		
8.4 Human R	esearch Subject Certification	
9 Safety Reportin	ng and Monitoring	
9.1 Data Safe	ty Monitoring Board (DSMB)	
9.2 Adverse H	Events and Serious Adverse Events	
9.3 Risks, Ris	sk Management, and Procedures to Minimize Risks	
9.3.1 Heal	th Screening Physical Measurements and Forms	
9.3.2 Inter	vention Procedures	
9.4 Risks in F	Relation to Benefits	
10 Data Processin	g and Management	
11 Statistical Meth	hods	
11.1 Sample Si	ize	
11.2 Randomiz	zation	
11.3 Dropout a	und Withdrawal	
11.4 Interim A	nalysis and Stopping Criteria	
11.5 Qualitativ	ve Data Methods and Analysis	
11.6 Quantitati	ive Data Methods and Analysis	
12 Study Adminis	tration	
12.1 Organizat	ion	
12.2 Study We	bsite	
12.3 Policies		
12.3.1 Conf	flict of Interest	
12.3.2 Publ	ications and Presentations	
12.3.3 Anci	Ilary Studies	
13 Literature Cite	ed	54
14 Appendix		63
14.1 List of Ab	bbreviations	
14.2 Previous	Prevention Study Group Research Activities	64

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND OVERVIEW

In response to increases in incident cases of type 2 diabetes in American children and youth, NIDDK has funded a multi-site primary prevention trial designed to moderate risk for type 2 diabetes in middle school aged children. In pilot studies, it was found that an indicator of adiposity, a body mass index greater than the 85th percentile for gender and age, is the most prevalent, modifiable risk factor for diabetes in this age group. In addition, indicators of insulin resistance and dysglycemia, elevated mean fasting insulin and glucose levels, can be assessed to determine if the intervention is capable of reducing these risk factors for diabetes in middle school aged children.

The trial is conducted at 7 field centers in 42 middle schools randomly assigned to intervention or control. Following student recruitment and baseline data collection in the first semester of 6th grade (2006), the intervention is implemented in the second semester of 6th grade (2007) and continues throughout 7th (school year 2007-2008) and 8th (school year 2008-2009) grades. All students are exposed to components of the intervention, which are implemented school-wide or grade-wide; however, only students who provide appropriate informed consent and assent participate in data collection and evaluation. The primary objective of the trial is to determine if, at the end of the 8th grade, the intervention significantly impacts the risk for developing type 2 diabetes compared to control.

Six pilot studies were performed to collect data to guide the development of an intervention (see appendix 14.2). The prior studies focused on:

- Establishing the feasibility of recruiting students and obtaining physical and physiological measurements, including fasting and 2-hour post glucose load blood draws (early 2003).
- Evaluating a physical education (PE) class program designed to increase moderate-tovigorous physical activity (late 2003).
- Testing the ability of a nutrition intervention to change food and beverage offerings in school food service and vending (early 2004).
- Implementing a program that integrated the PE class and food service nutrition interventions with a communications and awareness campaign (fall 2004).
- Determining the feasibility of a behavior change intervention, delivered through in-class and other school settings and family outreach, to accomplish self monitoring and goal setting (fall 2005).
- Evaluating PE class activities targeting 7th and 8th graders and a training and support program to motivate PE teacher buy-in and adherence (fall 2005).

Formative research has been conducted to inform the creation of all intervention components.

Based on a comprehensive review of the literature and the pilot study results, a robust multicomponent intervention has been developed that impacts the environment and lifestyle choices of middle school children. The intervention consists of the following integrated components:

- changes in the nutritional quality of food and beverage offerings throughout the total school food environment, including cafeteria meals and programs, a la carte, and vending machines;
- changes in the physical education (PE) program, equipment, and teacher training to increase both participation and number of minutes spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity when implemented by PE teachers in PE class;
- brief classroom activities designed to increase knowledge, enhance decision making skills, promote peer involvement and interaction, and enhance social influence;
- individual and group behavior change initiatives aimed at promoting healthier behaviors through self monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving;
- family outreach to involve parents/guardians and family members by providing information and strategies to support youth in accomplishing behavioral goals; and

 school-wide communications to enhance and promote changes in nutrition, activity, and behavior.

In addition to the primary objective of affecting risk for T2D, major secondary objectives are to: further understand and characterize the etiology of risk of T2D in this age group; evaluate the ability of the intervention to influence lifestyle changes and choices both in and out of school; determine the cost-effectiveness of the intervention; compare academic performance, attendance, and comportment in intervention versus control schools; and describe the influence of non-study changes in the school environment that affect student nutrition and physical activity. Finally, data are collected to evaluate the degree to which the components of the intervention are delivered and administered as planned.

2 INTRODUCTION

In response to the dramatic increase in type 2 diabetes in the pediatric population, the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) has sponsored a collaborative agreement, Studies to Treat Or Prevent Pediatric Type 2 Diabetes (STOPP-T2D), to develop and conduct both a treatment and prevention trial of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in children and adolescents. The prevention trial is the responsibility of the STOPP-T2D Prevention Study Group. The Prevention Study Group is composed of investigators from seven field centers (Baylor College of Medicine, Oregon Health & Science University, University of California at Irvine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Temple University, University of Pittsburgh, and University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio), the NIDDK project office, the coordinating center at George Washington University, the study chair, and other experts.

The prevention trial implements a population-based intervention to affect risk factors for type 2 diabetes in youth. The study group determined that middle school is an ideal environment for this intervention. Middle school children are typically undergoing pubertal changes that increase insulin resistance, alter body composition, and affect other risk factors for type 2 diabetes. Diet and physical activity behaviors are in flux during this period, and this transition represents an optimal opportunity to encourage healthier behaviors. Students this age are developmentally capable of increasing personal responsibility for behavior change and able to complete self-report assessments reliably.

The study group also determined that to impact risk for type 2 diabetes would require intervening on multiple levels, i.e., environmental, social, and individual. The environmental portion of the intervention changes the physical education class lesson plans and modifies the foods served in school. The behavior change intervention aims to enhance appropriate behavior choices within the school environment and extend positive lifestyle choices beyond the school environment. Social marketing and communication strategies reinforce diet and activity changes in and out of school. Finally, school staff and parents/guardians receive information and incentives to encourage them to help students adopt healthy lifestyles.

This protocol focuses on the design and organization of a primary prevention trial in 42 schools (6 per field center) randomized to a multi-component integrated intervention or to control. The primary purpose is to test whether the intervention has a significant impact on risk for T2D compared to control. School is the unit of sample size, randomization, intervention, and analysis, and data are collected at both the school and student level at baseline (beginning of 6th grade), across the administration of the intervention, and at end of study (end of 8th grade). All students in the school are exposed to the environmental changes and all students at the appropriate grade level are exposed to behavior change initiatives. Only students with appropriate parental consent and self assent participate in data collection.

The protocol was written by members of the Prevention Study Group, produced and distributed by the coordinating center, approved by the STOPP-T2D Data Safety Monitoring Board, and approved by the Institutional Review Boards (IRB) of each participating field center prior to the initiation of recruitment of schools. More detailed study procedures are presented in the manual of procedures (MOP).

3 OVERALL OBJECTIVES

3.1 Primary

The primary objective is to moderate risk for type 2 diabetes in middle school students. Modifiable risk factors are indicators of adiposity and glycemic dysregulation. The indicators are:

- <u>Body mass index (BMI) ≥ 85th percentile</u>, adjusted for gender and age. The 85th percentile is approximately equivalent to a BMI of 25 kg/m² in adults. A report from the American Diabetes Association [2000] noted that children and youth with type 2 diabetes were at or above the 85th percentile. In the OGTT Feasibility Study, 49% of subjects had BMI ≥ 85th percentile.
- <u>Fasting glucose (mg/dL)</u>. The results of the OGTT Feasibility Study revealed a mean fasting plasma glucose value of 98.2 mg/dL (sd=8.5) in a cohort of 8th graders. Since progression to pre-diabetes and diabetes is associated with elevation of fasting glucose levels, population-wide reduction in glucose levels would indicate reduction in the risk of developing diabetes.
- <u>Fasting insulin (µU/mL)</u>. Insulin resistance, assessed by fasting hyperinsulinism, is a prime defect in progression to type 2 diabetes. In the OGTT Feasibility Study, mean fasting insulin was 30.1 µU/mL (sd=19.1). Population-wide reduction in the mean fasting insulin level would indicate lessening of insulin resistance and diminished risk for the development of diabetes.

The risk of developing T2D begins early in life, and it is evident that to decrease the prevalence of T2D throughout the age spectrum, interventions to reduce risk factors should begin as early as possible. Middle school represents the ideal time since children progress through puberty, a period known to augment adiposity and insulin resistance. A BMI greater than the 85th percentile was associated with elevated fasting glucose and insulin levels in our pilot study [STOPP-T2D Prevention Study Group (in press)], and almost 50% of subjects were in that category. As a result, the trial has been powered to detect a difference in the percent of students with a BMI \ge 85th percentile between the intervention and control schools at the end of 8th grade. In addition, differences in mean fasting glucose and insulin levels, as indicators of dysglycemia and insulin resistance, in intervention and control schools will be important outcome measures to assess if the intervention has reduced the risk for T2D.

3.2 Secondary

Major secondary objectives are to:

- Contribute to our understanding of the etiology of risk of T2D in this age group. In addition to comparison of intervention versus control, the control schools provide natural history data about the components of the metabolic syndrome (lipids, adiposity, blood pressure, fasting glucose), effect of family history, and pubertal status.
- Evaluate the ability of the intervention to influence lifestyle changes and choices both in and out of school:
 - o Increase intake of dietary fiber, fruits, and vegetables and decrease intake of high fat and high sugar foods.
 - o Increase intake of water and low fat milk and decrease intake of added sugar beverages.
 - o Increase amount of physical activity and decrease amount of sedentary behavior.
- Determine the cost-effectiveness of the intervention.
- Monitor and describe the influence of changes in the school environment that are not mandated by the study but are due to decisions and changes in policies, guidelines, and recommendations at the school district, local, state, and national levels.

- Evaluate trends in academic performance, attendance, and comportment in intervention versus control schools.
- Evaluate the degree to which the components of the intervention are delivered and administered as planned, including the success of the school-wide communications campaigns to maximize study awareness, disseminate key intervention messages, and engage students.

4 BACKGROUND, SIGNIFICANCE, AND RATIONALE

Type 2 diabetes has recently become increasingly more common in the pediatric and adolescent population. Prior to 1994, type 2 diabetes was unusual in the pediatric population; some clinics now report that up to one-third of children and youth presenting with diabetes between the ages of 10 and 19 years have type 2 diabetes [Dean et al. 1992; Pinhas-Hamiel et al. 1996; Rosenbloom et al. 1999; Scott et al. 1997]. Type 2 diabetes in youth, as in adults, is due to a combination of insulin resistance and relative beta cell failure, and is seen almost exclusively in those with excess adiposity. Insulin resistance is most often the first abnormality that develops due to an interplay between genetic factors and environmental triggers. Initially, insulin resistance is characterized by high circulating insulin levels; however, insulin levels decrease as beta cell dysfunction progresses, leading to frank diabetes [Nijpels 1998].

Once type 2 diabetes develops, most youth require treatment with glucose-lowering medications such as insulin, insulin secretogogues, insulin sensitizers, or agents that inhibit hepatic glucose release [Rosenbloom et al. 1999]. The contribution of lifestyle modification has not been studied in youth once frank diabetes is established. However, studies in adults suggest that modification of lifestyle and weight loss can decrease insulin resistance, improve measures of glycemic control, and reduce lipemia, and blood pressure [Hughes et al. 1984; Henry et al. 1986; Amatruda et al. 1988].

4.1 Pathophysiological Risks Related to T2D in Adolescents

Figure 1 summarizes the progressive development of type 2 diabetes, from influential factors to consequent symptoms, diagnoses, and sequelae.



Figure 1. Natural History of Type 2 Diabetes

4.1.1 Obesity

Obesity is a major risk factor for the insulin resistance that precedes the development of impaired glucose tolerance (pre-diabetes) and type 2 diabetes. Over the last decades, there has been a dramatic increase in overweight in youth; the proportion of youth aged 12-17 years with a body mass index $(BMI) \ge 85^{th}$ percentile has increased from 15.2% (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, or NHANES II) in the 1970s to 25% (NHANES III) in the 1990s [Troiano and Flegal 1998]. Those at highest risk for being overweight are Hispanic, African American, and Native American youth and those with a positive family history of obesity—the same population of children at risk to develop type 2 diabetes. The vast majority of youth who are overweight will progress to obesity as adults and will have increased long-term morbidity and mortality [Harlan 1993; Mossberg 1989; Must et al. 1992]. As a result of the increasing epidemics of obesity and diabetes, obesity cost the nation more than \$100 billion in 2002 [Allison, Fontaine, et al. 1999; Allison, Zannolli, et al. 1999; Visscher and Seidell 2001; Wolf and Colditz 1998] and diabetes cost \$132 billion dollars. Indeed, the direct health care costs associated with obesity constitute 5.7% of the national health expenses in the US [Wolf and Colditz 1998] and those of diabetes almost 7% [ADA 2003].

Lifestyle factors, specifically, physical inactivity and poor dietary intake, are important targets for the primary prevention of obesity, insulin resistance, pre-diabetes, and type 2 diabetes. Controlled clinical trials have shown that type 2 diabetes can be prevented in adults with lifestyle interventions [Eriksson and Lindgarde 1991; Pan et al. 1997; Tuomilehto et al. 2001; DPP Research Group 2002]. While these studies were conducted in self-selected volunteers who were likely motivated to make lifestyle changes, there is reason to anticipate that youth might have a similar positive outcome to a comprehensive intervention combining diet and physical activity changes if they can be motivated to make the health-related lifestyle changes.

4.1.2 Influence of Diet and Activity on Insulin Resistance

Poor eating and drinking habits have been identified as risk factors for obesity [Kuller et al. 1995; Marstan and Stunkard 1980; Obarzanek et al. 1994]. Childhood obesity is associated with excessive consumption of sweetened beverages, fruit drinks, and fruit juices due to the kilocalories they contribute to the diet [Jacobson 1998; Levine 1997]. Soda machines can be found almost everywhere in the US, and the consumption of sugared soft drinks and fruit-flavored beverages by teens has more than doubled since 1965. The average adolescent boy now consumes 50 ounces of sugar-containing soft drinks and sugared fruit beverages per day [Popkin et al. 2001]. Data from the USDA Continuing Surveys of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) from 1977 and 1995 indicated the proportion of adolescent boys and girls consuming soft drinks, the biggest source of refined sugar in the diet, increased by 74% and 65%, respectively [Keenan et al. 1996]. In addition, the current intake of fruit and vegetables by children is less than one-half of the recommended 5-a-day goal [Cullen et al. 1997; Domel et al. 1995].

It appears that a diet high in fruits, vegetables, and whole grain products, and low in total calories and dietary fat is likely protective against both obesity and type 2 diabetes. Several studies have found an inverse relationship between fruit/vegetable consumption and dietary fat intake [Kristal et al. 1990; Subar et al. 1994], suggesting that messages to eat more fruits and vegetables may have a beneficial effect on fat intake. Therefore, there are sufficient data to suggest that targeting youth to reduce calorie consumption in the form of sugar-containing sodas and juices and encouraging the intake of fruits, vegetables, and whole grain products should reduce obesity, insulin resistance, and the subsequent progression to diabetes.

Numerous investigations in adults show that physical inactivity promotes the development of obesity, insulin resistance [Andersen et al. 1998], pre-diabetes, and diabetes [Burchfiel et al. 1995; Dowse et al. 1991]. Conversely, exercise can improve glucose tolerance [Saltin et al. 1979] and insulin sensitivity [Ebeling et al. 1993; Henriksson 1995; Houmard et al. 1991; Ploug et al. 1990;

Ritenbaugh et al. 2003]. The effect of exercise on glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity is multifaceted. There is a direct, short-term effect through activation and translocation of muscle GLUT-4 receptors, which improve cellular glucose uptake, independent of insulin [Holloszy and Narahara 1967; Houmard et al. 1991; Roberts et al. 1997]. Exercise also causes a decrease in circulating insulin levels [Wasserman 1995]. This effect is seen with short-term (10-30 minute) submaximal exercise, prolonged submaximal exercise (60-180 min), maximal-intensity exercise, and resistance exercises [Gyntelberg et al. 1977; Hartley et al. 1972; Lavoie et al. 1997; Miller et al. 1984; Viru 1992]. The mechanisms causing the exercise-induced decrease in insulin are not completely understood. It appears that exercise causes increased sympathetic activity, stimulating the alphaadrenergic receptors of the pancreatic beta cells, which then decrease insulin secretion. This reduction appears to be sustained longer than the sympathetic response to exercise, well into the recovery phase after exercise (i.e., hours) [Mikines et al. 1988]. Aerobic exercise training results in lower resting insulin levels and improves insulin sensitivity [Winder et al. 1979]. Increases in insulin sensitivity and GLUT-4 transport protein content of the muscle occur in as little as 7 days of beginning exercise training [Etgen et al. 1997; Goodyear et al. 1990; Gulve and Spina 1995; Vukovich et al. 1996]. The improved sensitivity and transporter changes maximize after about 2 weeks of training; however, they last only 3 to 6 days after the cessation of training [LeBlanc et al. 1981; Vukovich et al. 1996]. This suggests the need for a continuous program of exercise to maintain insulin sensitivity.

Short-term studies of exercise training in youth also suggest a beneficial effect on insulin and glucose responses. Gutin et al. [1996] and Owens et al. [1999] evaluated a 10-week exercise and lifestyle program in 7-11 year old obese youth. No change in fasting insulin was found, but fasting glucose and glycohemoglobin levels declined. Kahle et al. [1996] found that a 15-week mild exercise program for 7 obese adolescents, which induced weight loss, resulted in improved insulin sensitivity and lowered resting plasma glucose values. In these studies, improvement in fasting glucose levels could have been related to either weight loss or exercise. McMurray et al. [2000] studied 362 African American and Caucasian youth 10-14 years of age. They found that 8 weeks of exercise training lowered resting insulin levels in only those youth who increased aerobic power, regardless of weight change. Recently, Ritenbaugh et al. [2003] implemented an activity and nutrition intervention with Zuni youth aged 16-18 years. The results failed to show a change in glucose but did show a decrement in fasting insulin levels. The results of these investigations suggest that an exercise program of sufficient duration and intensity should be able to influence the insulin sensitivity in youth.

4.2 **Previous Interventions**

4.2.1 Prevention of T2D

In adults, compelling evidence exists that type 2 diabetes can be prevented or delayed by lifestyle modifications aimed at weight reduction by improving nutrition and increasing physical activity. Collectively, these studies suggest that modest weight loss (in the range of 7–10 lbs), achieved through sustained lifestyle modifications, reduces the incidence of diabetes in high-risk individuals by 40-60%.

The Da Qing study [Pan et al. 1997] in China randomized 33 clinics (557 individuals with impaired glucose tolerance) to either control, diet, exercise, or combined diet plus exercise interventions. The incidence of diabetes was reduced in all three intervention groups (31%, 46%, and 42%, respectively) when compared with the control group. The Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study [Tuomilehto et al. 2001] was a 3-year study of 522 obese individuals with impaired glucose tolerance, randomized to either control or lifestyle groups. The lifestyle intervention had goals of a 5% weight loss, reduction in calories from fat, increased fiber intake, and moderate exercise of at least 30 minutes daily. The incidence of diabetes was reduced by 58% in the lifestyle group compared with

the control group. The lifestyle group had a net weight loss of 2.7 kg over the three years when compared with the control group.

While these studies involved subjects in other countries and relatively homogeneous study populations, the US Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) demonstrated the efficacy of lifestyle intervention to prevent or delay type 2 diabetes in a culturally and ethnically heterogeneous population [DPP 2002]. In the DPP, more than 3000 adult subjects with impaired glucose tolerance were randomized to receive either placebo, metformin, or a lifestyle modification program. The goal of the lifestyle intervention was at least a 7% weight loss through a healthy, low-fat diet and at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity per week. The study population was 19.9% African American, 15.7% Hispanic, and 5.3% American Indian. The lifestyle intervention reduced the incidence of diabetes by 58% over an average follow-up period of 2.8 years. Average net weight loss was 5.5 kg in the lifestyle group compared with the placebo group.

Given the recent nature of the rise of type 2 diabetes in the pediatric population, there have been no large scale studies with physiologic outcomes focused on diabetes prevention in youth. A recent study has suggested that population-based lifestyle interventions may ameliorate risk factors for type 2 diabetes in children. The Bienestar study randomized 27 elementary schools in San Antonio and provided a multi-faceted health program to Mexican American 4th graders [Treviño et al. 1998]. Mean fasting blood glucose was statistically lower in the intervention schools compared to the control schools (89.47 mg/dl v. 87.53 mg/dl).

The adult diabetes prevention studies focused on high risk subjects and generally included individuals motivated to make lifestyle changes. However, given the definitive results in the adult population, it is likely that a robust, comprehensive program targeting diet and physical activity changes would have a positive outcome in youth. Similarly, in adults there is ample evidence that lifestyle modification and weight loss can improve diabetes outcomes [Consensus Development Conference 1987; Franz et al. 2002; Wing 1995; Hensrud 2001]. These interventions in adults have been delivered in the clinical setting, but these findings suggest that comprehensive programs targeting youth, including those with type 2 diabetes, may have a positive effect on the course of diabetes in affected individuals.

4.2.2 School-based Efforts

Investigators have reported few interventions to prevent type 2 diabetes in youth. The only large randomized intervention study targeting prevention of type 2 diabetes was Bienestar (referred to in the previous section) which was designed to reduce diabetes risk factors in 4th grade Mexican American children through a comprehensive school health program [Treviño et al. 1998]. The study involved approximately 1400 youth from 27 elementary schools in Texas. At one year follow-up, intervention youth showed significantly lower fasting glucose than those in comparison schools. Adiposity did not differ between groups [Treviño et al. 1998; Treviño et al. 2004]. There have been several published pilot diabetes prevention programs. The Zuni Diabetes Prevention Program was a pilot intervention in two schools that involved diabetes education, a school-based wellness center, supportive social networks, and modification of the food types available to teens [Teufel and Ritenbaugh 1998; Ritenbaugh et al. 2003]. After 3 years there was a significant reduction in soft drink consumption and a decrease in fasting insulin levels, with no change in fasting glucose concentrations [Ritenbaugh et al. 2003]. Jump Into Action was a program designed for 5th graders living on the Texas-Mexico border [Holcomb et al. 1998]. The intervention consisted of a health education program designed to improve the knowledge, self-efficacy, and health behaviors of the participant children. Although the 1,114 children increased their health knowledge and self-efficacy for improving health behaviors, there was no change in exercise related behaviors. No physiologic variables were measured in this trial. The Quest program was developed to prevent type 2 diabetes in Pima children, but no outcomes have been reported [Cook and Hurley 1998].

Other school-based interventions with children and adolescents have targeted related outcomes such as obesity and CVD risk factors [Donnelly et al. 1996; Gortmaker et al. 1999; Marcus et al. 1987; Resnicow 1993; Resnicow and Robinson 1997; Simons-Morton et al. 1991; Stone et al. 1998; Tell and Vellar 1988]. School-based studies focused exclusively on obesity prevention include Planet Health [Gortmaker et al. 1999], Robinson's TV reduction intervention [Robinson 1999], PATHWAYS [Caballero et al. 2003], and others [Donnelly et al. 1996; James et al. 2004]. Most reported null findings on adiposity [Donnelly et al. 1996; Caballero et al. 2003; Resnicow 1993; Resnicow and Robinson 1997; Stone et al. 1998]. Exceptions include Planet Health, Robinson's TV reduction pilot study, and the UK "fizzy" beverage intervention [James et al. 2004]. The significant effects of Planet Health were generally limited to Black girls, whereas the effects of the UK "fizzy" beverage study were limited to students in the upper end of the BMI distribution. MSPAN (Middle School Physical Activity and Nutrition) showed an effect on adiposity in boys only [Sallis et al. 2003]. Of the studies that showed some positive effects on adiposity, it may be noteworthy that three had rather narrow foci, two focused on reducing television time [Gortmaker et al. 1999; Robinson 1999] and one on reducing sweetened beverages [James et al. 2004].

Some studies, such as the large Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health (CATCH) Trial [Luepker et al. 1996], the CHIC study [Harrell et al. 1999; McMurray et al. 2002], the Sports, Play, and Active Recreation for Kids (SPARK) Study [Sallis et al. 1997; Sarkin et al. 1996], and others [Burke et al. 1998; Donnelly et al. 1996; Keenan et al. 1996] were successful in increasing physical activity and the amount of time spent in school physical education (PE). CATCH also improved eating habits but had no impact on obesity rates or cholesterol levels. Of these studies, only the CHIC-I study was able to improve physiologic outcomes, i.e., to reduce body fat, to decrease cholesterol concentrations, and to increase aerobic power in elementary school children [Harrell et al. 1999]. The CHIC-II study was effective in reducing body fat and blood pressure in middle school youth [McMurray et al. 2002]. It is hypothesized that one of the main reasons the CHIC interventions were successful in affecting physiologic variables is the increased amount of time spent in actual moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) in school (20 minutes in elementary schools and 30 minutes in middle schools).

4.3 Rationale for the Current Protocol

The rationale for conducting the primary prevention trial in youth in middle schools—and particularly targeting physical education class, total school food environment, and behaviors and messages—is as follows.

In this age group. Children in the 6th-8th grades (middle school) are generally 11-14 years old and in early adolescence. This is a time of both physical and metabolic as well as emotional and mental growth and development. Children are assuming more responsibility for their own choices. By developing a comprehensive intervention to alter the nutrition and physical activity practices of middle school children, excessive weight gain and obesity could be prevented or lessened. By preventing or lessening obesity, insulin resistance should be ameliorated and glucose intolerance (prediabetes) and diabetes prevented. In addition, established diabetes may be impacted by weight loss and improved physical activity.

<u>In schools</u>. The school environment can influence activity and eating habits [Skinner et al. 2000]. Richter et al. [2000] performed an extensive review of the environmental factors that relate to physical activity and nutrition in youth. They considered the key factors to be the number and type of exercise programs, exercise facilities, policies, types of health promotion activities, presence or absence of certain foods, ways in which food is displayed, and the presence of positive or negative consequences for physical activity and eating. In addition, teacher influences and role modeling and the social network affect the psychosocial culture and the social norms of the school. All of these factors are considered to be part of the school climate, which can influence health behaviors of students, faculty, and staff [Cullen et al. 1999; Glanz et al. 1995; Paradis et al. 1995]. Barnett and Casper [2001] recently proposed a comprehensive definition of social environment as "the human social environment encompassing the physical surroundings, social relationships, and cultural milieus in which [children and adolescents] function and interact". The school is the primary social environment of youth, and as a result the school setting remains the predominant avenue in which to place interventions aimed at changing physical activity patterns in youth [King et al. 1995; Stone et al. 1998]. Policy recommendations and guidelines for increasing physical activity in youth include the school as an important environmental influence on physical activity [American Academy of Pediatrics 2000; National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion 1997].

In addition, school based learning activities provide a knowledge base and rationale for change. Both retrospective and prospective research [Botvin et al. 1990; Gottfredson and Wilson 2003; Mellanby et al. 2000; Story et al. 2002; Goldberg et al. 1996a; Goldberg et al. 1996b; Goldberg et al. 2000; Elliot et al. 2004] demonstrates that well designed and implemented programs are effective in promoting a wide range of beneficial health behaviors among adolescents, including reduction in drug use, improvement in nutrition practices, and enhancing exercise self-efficacy. These benefits have been achieved by adolescent males and females, can be sustained beyond the intervention time period, and may be long lasting.

Many adolescent behaviors are shaped more by peers and social influences than by parental or other adult influences [Bandura 1977], and the school provides an environment conducive to fostering peer communications. Strong associations have been found between adolescents' actions and their peers' conduct through perceived normative behaviors and modeling [Backman et al. 2002]. For example, subjective normative use is a significant predictor of intention to drink regular soda [Kassem et al. 2004]. Furthermore, healthy and unhealthy behaviors often cluster among adolescents. The Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System found significant relationships between sedentary lifestyle and unhealthy nutrition practices. For example, low physical activity among adolescents was associated with low fruit and vegetable consumption [Grunbaum et al. 2002]. Thus, focusing on enhancing one healthy behavior may positively impact other behaviors.

<u>In physical education class</u>. Adult studies report that exercise of at least 40% of maximal capacity performed for a minimum of 20 minutes results in a lowering of insulin levels [Bonen et al. 1985; Galbo et al. 1975; Hickson et al. 1979; Rubin 2001]. Other adult studies have shown that exercise training can have a positive impact on the glycemic status of normal individuals [LeBlanc et al. 1983; Mayer-Davis et al. 1998] and patients with type 2 diabetes [Ericksson et al. 1996; Larsen et al. 1999; Rice et al. 1999]. Similar studies on children present a less clear picture of the effects of exercise on glycemic status [Gutin et al. 1995; Kahle et al. 1996; McMurray et al. 2000; Schmitz et al. 2002]; however, the studies by Kahle et al. and McMurray et al. suggest that moderate intensity exercise for 8 to 15 weeks can result in improvement in the glycemic status, particularly in 'at risk' youth.

Data from CATCH [Leupker et al. 1996], which found no measurable physiological improvement in fitness, and others [McMurray et al. 2000; Rowland 1996; Eliakim et al. 1996] suggest that the amount of physical activity must lead to at least a 6% increase in total energy expenditure (TEE) over current levels before any change in fitness (VO₂max) occurs. Because any effect of exercise on insulin sensitivity lasts about 48-72 hours [Mikines et al. 1988], PE every other day is warranted. Using these data and assuming 3 PE classes per week and an overall resting metabolic rate for this aged adolescent of approximately 1.34 kcal/kg/min [Harrell et al. 2005], to achieve a 6% increase in TEE the adolescent should exercise for the equivalent of three 35-minute periods per week during which energy expenditure equals about 5.4 kcal/kg/min (less time is required as intensity increases). This translates approximately into three 35-minute periods in which the mean heart rate is 130-140 beats per minute. This amount of exercise in an unfit, overweight adolescent should result in a decrease in fasting insulin of approximately 10-50% based on the research by Kahle et al. [1996] and Kang et al. [2002]. Furthermore, the heart range of 130-140 would be classified as at least moderate intensity [Harrell et al. 2005].

Eliakim et al. [2001] have shown that in children a 10% increase in energy expenditure is needed to increase aerobic power approximately 8%. Furthermore, to overcome the increased portion sizes requires approximately a 10-12% increase in energy expenditure [Rolls et al. 2004]. Taken together these results indicate that a minimum of 25 minutes of MVPA is needed in a PE class to cause the desired energy expenditure. Assuming PE classes meet 3 times a week, this amounts to approximately 75 minutes of MVPA per week.

In the total school food environment. Among older children and adolescents, energy intake, physical activity, and recreational inactivity are associated with changes in energy intake. In the Growing Up Today Study of over 10,000 children 9-14 years of age, a one-year rise in caloric intake predicted larger BMI increases (girls $.0059 \pm .0027 \text{ kg/m}^2$ per increase of 100 kcal/day; boys $.0082 \pm .0030$) [Berkey et al. 2000]. In a 13 year longitudinal study of 243 children followed from ages 2-15 years. energy-adjusted fat and carbohydrate intakes were respectively directly and inversely related to skinfolds but not to BMI [Magarev et al. 2001]. Higher energy intake may be attributed to increased soft drink consumption, low-nutrient calorie-dense snacks, and absence of lower caloric, higher nutrient dense foods including fruit, vegetable, and grain based foods in children's diets. For each age and gender group of children between 2-19 years who participated in NHANES III, soft drinks contributed a higher proportion of energy for overweight than for non-overweight children and adolescents [Trojano et al. 2000]. A Canadian study of obese and non-obese children between 4-16 years of age reported that obese subjects consumed significantly more sugar $(167 \pm 60 \text{ g})$ than did the non-obese subjects $(134 \pm 46 \text{ g})$ [Gillis et al. 2002]. While there is no clear evidence that consumption of sugar per se affects food intake and weight gain, there is evidence to suggest that energy consumed as a liquid may be less well regulated than energy consumed in a solid form. Several studies suggest that consumption of soft drinks and other sweetened beverages is related to increased caloric intake [Trojano et al. 2000; Ludwig et al. 2001]. Of all the food groups, fruits and vegetables are most likely to be consumed in inadequate amounts by children. School-based interventions have been successful in increasing fruit and vegetable consumption, frequently with a concomitant decrease in fat intake [Lowe et al. 2004].

Parallel to the upward trend of children's body weight, a change of dietary intake has been observed. More children are snacking and there are increased intakes of added sugars and grain dishes high in fat as well as a decreased consumption of milk [Jahns et al. 2001; Cavadini et al. 2000]. In 1994-1996, 92.6% of children ages 6-11 years reported snacking on any given day, up from 76% in 1977. The number of snacks per day increased from 1.5 in 1977 to 2, and the amount of calories coming from snacks increased from 347 in 1977 to 462 in 1996 [Jahns et al. 2001]. When examining the types of food consumed as snacks, beverages (mainly soft drinks, fruit juices, and milk) are popular as well as savory-salt foods (potato chips, crackers, etc.) and high fat desserts. In addition, increases in portion sizes over the years have been observed. Data for Americans ages 2 years and older showed larger portion size consumption for both at home and away from home consumption [Nielsen and Popkin 2003].

Students participating in the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) are almost twice as likely to report eating vegetables at lunch (73% vs 40%) and consuming more fruit compared with non-participants (48% vs 32%), while students not eating NSLP meals were three times more likely to report consuming sweetened beverages, sweets, and sugar (64% vs 21%) compared with NSLP participants [Devaney et al. 1993]. When students transition to middle schools, they often gain access to snack bar and a la carte items in addition to NSLP meals [Devaney et al. 1993]. In middle schools, 88.5% of a la carte food items are high in fat and/or sugars [Wildey et al. 2000]. This environment does not foster healthful eating practices consistent with the Dietary Guidelines for Americans [Harnack et al. 2000].

<u>In behaviors and messages</u>. If childhood overweight and the associated risk factors are a consequence of biologic and social influences that operate across many settings, the development of effective public health interventions requires that strategies address multiple settings and multiple behaviors simultaneously [Dietz and Gortmaker 2001; Patrick et al. 2004]. Environmental changes to food offerings and physical education class have little resonance without the impact of behavior change, messages, and awareness regarding the themes of choice, strength, and balance.

Recent evidence has documented the importance of decreasing behaviors associated with negative health outcomes, especially sugar beverages [Berkey et al. 2004; Mrdjenovic and Levitsky 2003; Boynton-Jarrett et al. 2003] and sedentary behavior [Utter et al. 2003]. Pediatric obesity intervention studies have demonstrated that lifestyle activities (i.e., increasing overall activity in daily life), as compared to programmed activities (i.e., structured physical activities) are associated with positive long-term weight trajectories in school aged children [Epstein et al. 1994]. A school-based educational program [James et al. 2004] targeted decreases in soda consumption ('fizzy drinks') among 644 7-11 year olds in southwest England. The intervention was delivered in 1 hour sessions four times per year and aimed to decrease both regular and diet soda intake. Results showed that consumption of carbonated drinks decreased significantly in the intervention group compared to controls as measured by self-report.

There is stronger evidence that limiting sedentary behavior affects excess weight. A school based study of 192 3rd and 4th graders [Robinson 1999] was the first experimental study to demonstrate a direct association between decreases in sedentary behavior (television, videotape, video games) and decreases in adiposity in both girls and boys. The intervention consisted of 18 hours of education, self-monitoring, a 'TV turnoff' challenge, a 7 hour a week TV budget, peer advocacy for reduced media use, and newsletters to enlist parental support. Although overweight increased in both intervention and control groups, children in the intervention group had significant relative decreases in BMI, triceps skinfold thickness, waist circumference, and waist–to-hip ratio. A recent study [Roemmich et al. 2004] showed that 8-12 year olds who earned TV time based on the number of pedometer counts they were able to achieve had a significantly greater increase in physical activity than the control group on whom no TV restrictions were placed. The change in time spent watching television was directly related to the change in BMI.

5 STUDY DESIGN

The primary prevention trial is primarily focused on public health and therefore targets the public, as opposed to a clinical trial which targets the individual patient (e.g., the Diabetes Prevention Program, or DPP, which randomized at-risk adults to 3 treatment arms to prevent occurrence of type 2 diabetes). The public is clustered together in various units (e.g., the community, the workplace, the hospital, the school), and hence public health primary prevention trials are also known as cluster design trials. The cluster is the unit of sample size, randomization, intervention, and analysis.

This protocol presents a cluster design trial with middle school as the cluster. Schools are randomized to either intervention or control. All students throughout the school are exposed to the intervention, which becomes embedded in the school environment. Measurements and observations are made at the community, school, grade, and student levels. Student data are collected only from those providing appropriate informed consent and assent. Baseline data are collected at the beginning of the 6th grade (2006-2007 school year) and final outcome data are collected at the end of the 8th grade (2008-2009 school year). The primary objective is to reduce the risk associated with the development of type 2 diabetes in intervention compared to control schools. The primary analysis is based on a cohort of students with no reported diagnosis of diabetes followed from baseline (6th grade) through end of study (8th grade). A total of 42 schools are recruited, 21 randomized to intervention and 21 to control. Each field center enrolls 6 schools. Schools are randomized by end of July 2006—well before student recruitment—in order to accommodate the advanced timing of food service bids and purchase orders in schools assigned to intervention.

Throughout this protocol, the term 'semester' is used generically to signify a period of approximately 4 months designating the first or second half of the school year. While most schools operate under the semester schedule, some schools have segmented the school year into other time periods.

5.1 Eligibility

5.1.1 School

School eligibility criteria are:

- The student body is representative of the adolescent population at risk for type 2 diabetes, defined as either at least 50% minority (African American, Hispanic/Latino, and/or Native American) and/or greater than 50% eligible for free or reduced lunch.
- Annual student attrition from all causes is $\leq 25\%$ (estimate determined from data provided by the school).
- Expected cohort size at end of study is at least 50 per school determined by applying 50% anticipated enrollment rate and annual school-wide attrition rate over 3 years.
- School authorities are willing to accept randomization of an individual school to intervention or control. If a school is assigned to the intervention program, this means that the school must arrange for the following if needed:
 - students attend PE class for a minimum of 225 minutes every 10 days over the course of the intervention,
 - PE class attendance is mandatory and continuous for the cohort, that is, 6th, 7th, and 8th graders in the intervention school years (with school specified medical exceptions in individual cases), and
 - the school has at least one play area that satisfies intervention requirements as determined by the field center staff..
- School authorities permit grade-wide collection of height, weight, gender, age, and race/ethnicity at baseline (1st semester of 6th grade).
- The school assists with mass mailings of study materials (e.g., information packets, newsletters) to homes either by providing the local field center with the names and addresses of parents or by identifying procedures to mail materials from the school. All postage and materials are paid for by the study.
- The school district possesses or obtains Federal Wide Assurance (FWA) to conduct research. Because of the increased level of involvement, the schools and their employees are considered 'agents' of the field centers and, therefore, each school must acquire FWA. This is typically acquired at the school district level.
- Appropriate school authorities agree to adhere to the protocol.

5.1.2 Students

The intervention is implemented school-wide in schools randomized to intervention, and all students are therefore exposed. Eligible students are enrolled in both intervention and control schools to participate in scheduled data collection and evaluation.

A <u>cohort</u> is enrolled at the start of 6^{th} grade to participate in baseline (6^{th} grade), interim (7^{th} grade), and end of study (8^{th} grade) data collection. Eligibility criteria at 6^{th} grade enrollment are:

- The student is enrolled in 6th grade in fall 2006.
- The student is able to participate in the school's standard PE program.

- The student's parent/guardian has provided informed consent indicating understanding of the study and willingness for the child to participate in data collection and evaluation procedures.
- The student has provided informed assent indicating understanding of the study and willingness to participate in data collection and evaluation procedures.

An additional <u>cross-sectional sample</u> of students is enrolled to participate in end of study data collection. Eligibility criteria at 8th grade enrollment are:

- The student is enrolled in 8^{th} grade in spring 2009.
- The student's parent/guardian has provided informed consent indicating understanding of the study and willingness for the child to participate in data collection and evaluation procedures.
- The student has provided informed assent indicating understanding of the study and willingness to participate in data collection and evaluation procedures.

5.2 Recruitment and Retention Strategies

Success of research trials often depends on effective recruitment and retention of study participants. In this trial, the 'study participants' refer to schools, students, their parents, and school officials, staff, and faculty. Recent studies of subject participation in community-based research clearly indicate that the traditional researcher-centered model of recruitment and retention is not sensitive to the participating communities and individual subjects [Levkoff and Sanchez 2003; Potvin et al. 2003]. Therefore innovative participant and community centered recruitment and retention strategies are needed.

5.2.1 Recruitment

Recruitment occurs on several levels: school district, school, staff/faculty, parent, and student. Strategies used address all levels [Harrington et al. 1997; Sexton et al. 2003].

At the community level, study investigators and staff:

- Form a school advisory board comprised of state or district level superintendent or key administrators from the Department of Education, powerful or visible parents (such as current or past PTA president), school principals, classroom and PE teachers, and food service director at district or state level.
- Meet with the board periodically to receive feedback and advice about study interventions and procedures.
- Share the advisory board deliberations across the study group to monitor and guide study progress.
- The advisory board is recommended but not required at all sites.

At the school district level, study investigators and staff:

- Identify, contact, and inform key individuals at the district level about the study. These key individuals include those with a vested interest in the study (food service director, physical education director, health educator, district school nurse, etc.).
- Make direct contact with the superintendent of the school district or the individual in the district who is responsible for research.
- Determine the necessary procedures required to obtain permission to contact principals and to acquire Federal Wide Assurance in the district.
- Keep the school district officials informed of all study activities, including schools contacted, list of schools agreeing to participate in the study, and a copy of the protocol, if appropriate.

At the school level, study investigators and staff:

- Contact and meet with school principals to provide an overview of the study and determine their interest in having their school participate in the study.
- Provide the principal with a written summary of the details of the study, including what the study requires from the school as well as benefits to the school, teachers, parents, and students. Get feedback from the principal about possible barriers that may be encountered in the school, and discuss ways to overcome these.
- Respect the tight schedule of the principals and other administrators. It may be helpful to approach principals during the summer months and other periods of lighter work load.
- At the discretion of the field center, a signed memo of understanding may be used to assure that the principal and/or assigned administrator fully understand and agree to all aspects of the study, including willingness to be assigned to control or intervention.
- Identify, establish, and maintain clear lines of communication with appropriate school administrators and staff.
- Involve school principals in selecting and recruiting teachers to implement intervention components.
- Identify a Health Action Team (HAT) of adult stakeholders, including administrators, staff, faculty, and parents, for the purpose of advising and assisting the study staff in the logistics, space, timing, etc. of the intervention. This involves meeting with the study staff at least 2-4 times per year for about 1 hour. Such a group may already exist in the school or may need to be modified or created. The actual name does not have to be HAT but is determined locally.
- Coordinate all study activities with the school calendar and class schedules.

At the school faculty and staff level, study investigators and staff:

- Meet with all teachers to explain the trial and solicit support.
- Develop materials that explain the purpose of the study and provide a summary of data collection (suitable for both intervention and control schools) and that describe the intervention (for intervention schools only).
- Clearly define expectations of school staff and faculty and the roles and responsibilities of study staff.

At the parent and student level, study investigators and staff:

- Include in the consent packet a letter to parents from the field center principal investigator and the school principal indicating support and encouraging participation in the study.
- Provide materials at the appropriate reading level and in Spanish where needed.
- Hold parent meetings, orientation sessions, and/or registration opportunities to present materials and informed consent.
- Make student presentations and contacts to generate positive word of mouth.
- Use materials with the study logo to generate student interest in participating in the study.

5.2.2 Retention

Retention of schools and students is vital for a longitudinal cohort study. As with recruitment, retention addresses all levels of participant.

At the parent and student level, study investigators and staff:

• Provide written feedback to all parents of participating students about the results of the "health screenings" (i.e., measures from the pre and post intervention testing, see the section on Safety Monitoring and Reporting).

- Maintain interest in the study through materials and mailings for subjects in intervention schools.
- Send letters to parents and students prior to the final data collection, reminding them of the upcoming data collection and the incentives the students will receive.

At the school level, study investigators and staff:

- Provide periodic communications via newsletters and presentations to inform the school officials/staff, students, and parents about type 2 diabetes, the current status of the study, and plans for the next phase, as well as to acknowledge their support.
- Use experienced study staff who understand and respect local culture and customs.
- Become a presence in the intervention schools to monitor and maintain consistency in implementation, and to provide encouragement and trouble-shooting as needed. Within protocol parameters, be as flexible as possible with study schedule and proactive in resolving conflicts with schools.
- Provide school administration and faculty with the schedule or grid showing how the intervention fits into the school calendar with regard to testing, holidays, and other events.
- Solicit support from parents, school officials/staff, and teachers who can encourage students to participate in the intervention activities.
- Provide periodic incentives for school staff and teachers.
- Provide monetary incentives for the schools that increase with each year of the study. For control schools these are \$2,000 for year 1, \$4,000 for year 2, and \$6,000 for year 3. For intervention schools, the amounts are \$2,000 for year 1, \$3,000 for year 2, and \$4,000 for year 3.

5.3 Informed Consent and Assent

Each field center is responsible for obtaining IRB approval and informed consent and assent.

- <u>School Staff and Employees</u>. By acquiring Federal Wide Assurance (FWA) to conduct federally funded research, the school and its staff and employees are considered 'agents' of the field centers and informed consent is not needed for them to participate in implementation of the intervention, including training. Informed consent is required if school staff and employees are themselves the subjects of the research. Therefore, affected school staff and employees sign appropriate informed consent before being asked to provide survey, interview, or other evaluation data.
- <u>Health Action Team (HAT)</u>. Each intervention school establishes a Health Action Team (HAT) to serve as an advisory body to the study staff. Such a group may already exist or may be created. Members of the HAT include school personnel as well as parents. No data are collected from the HAT members themselves, although meetings and attendance are tracked for process evaluation purposes. Local IRB guidelines apply to whether these individuals qualify for exemption or whether consent/assent need to be acquired.
- <u>Students and Parents</u>. Parental consent and student assent are obtained for data collection measurements and evaluation procedures, not for exposure to the intervention which is delivered school wide. For students enrolled in the 6th grade cohort, consent/assent covers data collection and evaluation procedures in 6th, 7th, and 8th grades. For students enrolled in 8th grade, consent/assent covers data collection and evaluation procedures in 6th, 7th, and 8th grades. For students enrolled in 8th grade, consent/assent covers data collection and evaluation procedures in 6th, 7th, and 8th grades. For students enrolled in 8th grade, consent/assent covers data collection and evaluation procedures in 8th grade (end of study).

Consent includes permission for the study group to draw and store an extra 10 mL (about 2 teaspoons) of blood to look for other possible diabetes and obesity related complications and risk factors. These measures do not have immediate clinical relevance, but may prove helpful in understanding and interpreting study results. In addition, future research may uncover new blood tests that would prove valuable to diabetes and obesity research in this age group. Therefore, the informed consent form includes a check box asking parents to give permission to eventually send all data collected for the study (including leftover blood samples), appropriately anonymized and de-identified, to be stored in the central NIH repository for use in approved research related to diabetes and obesity.

At each field center, consent is obtained from parents to provide information useful for the family outreach events and activities, including first-person stories for the newsletters. Up to two focus groups are conducted with parents per year, with 6-10 participants per focus group. Specifically, the need for a second focus group depends on the quality of the information obtained in the first round study-wide. Strategies for recruitment may include solicitation by mailed flyer or newsletter announcement, talking to the parent HAT member to recruit other parents, or through the school's community liaison or other school-based group with links to parents.

Student Peer Communicators. In intervention schools, students are nominated by their classmates to participate as peer communicators. Students are given the opportunity to accept or decline the nomination. Students nominated to be peer communicators may or may not have provided consent and assent to be a study participant, and students who are willing to participate as peer communicators are not required to be members of the cohort providing consent/assent for scheduled data collection measurements and evaluation procedures. Students designated as student peer communicators are those who agree to serve as a student peer communicator, who are nominated by their classmates, and who are approved by the classroom teacher and/or school administration. Students selected to serve as peer communicators (1) attend 1-2 training sessions, (2) attend activity-specific refresher sessions, (3) assist study staff with selected intervention activities, and (4) as feasible in the school context, participate in informal small group discussions to inform study staff about design components for activities held during subsequent intervention phases. Peer communicator activities take no more than an average of 1 hour per week to perform during the active intervention phases of the study. Local IRB guidelines apply to whether these individuals qualify for exemption or whether consent/assent need to be acquired.

All participants may refuse to provide specific responses or measures or may withdraw from data collection procedures entirely at any time. All students and, to a lesser extent, all school staff are exposed to the intervention delivered throughout the school and in the classrooms. Under these conditions, withdrawal from the intervention may not be entirely possible. Parents who want to withdraw their child from any aspect of the intervention follow established school procedures.

5.4 Participant Compensation

Table 1 lists compensation items and amounts provided by the study. This list does not include study supplies, which are needed to deliver and implement the intervention or data collection activities, or small items given away to students, families, and staff school-wide or grade-wide to promote campaigns and activities.

Table 1. Study Provided Compensation				
Who	What	Amount		
SCHOOL				
Intervention School	 school program enhancement PE class equipment required to implement intervention food service department to defray costs of nutrition intervention 	 \$2000 in year 1, \$3000 in year 2, \$4000 in year 3 ~\$15,000 over 3 years \$3000/year 		
Control School	 school program enhancement 	• \$2000 in year 1, \$4000 in year 2, \$6000 in year 3		
INTERVENTION SCHO	OOL FACULTY	,		
Classroom Teacher Delivering Intervention	 participation in 4-hour initial behavior intervention training participation in 1-hour booster behavior intervention training participation in data collection and documented delivery of intervention 	 hourly rate ~ \$25/hour once a year in 1st semester hourly rate ~ \$25/hour once a year in 2nd semester \$100/semester 		
PE Teacher	participation in 6-hour initial PE intervention training	 hourly rate ~ \$25/hour to teacher if occurs on teacher 'personal time', or to school to reimburse for substitute teacher during school calendar, once a year in 1st semester 		
	• participation in 6-hour booster PE intervention training	 hourly rate ~ \$25/hour to teacher if occurs on teacher 'personal time', or to school to reimburse for substitute teacher during school calendar, once a year in 2nd semester 		
	• participation in data collection and documentation of PE intervention	• \$100/semester		
INTERVENTION SCHO	OOL STAFF			
FS Manager	 participation in 4-6 hour initial nutrition intervention training participation in 2 hour booster 	\$50\$25/semester		
	 participation in data collection and documented delivery of intervention 	• \$100/semester		
FS Worker	 participation in 4-6 hour initial nutrition intervention training participation in 2 hour booster training 	\$50\$25/semester		
CONTROL SCHOOL S	TAFF			
FS Manager	• participation in 2-hour study procedures orientation	• \$25/year		

Table 1. Study Provided Compensation						
Who	Who What Amount					
FS Worker	• participation in 2-hour study procedures orientation	• \$25/year				
STUDENT						
All	 return consent form (signed or not) participation in health screening data collection measures and forms 	 gift item worth ~ \$5 \$50 baseline (6th grade), \$10 interim (7th grade), \$60 end of study (8th grade) 				
FAMILY						
Intervention Parents	• focus groups to provide input about family outreach events and activities	• \$35/year per parent, up to 2 focus groups per field center, 6-10 participants per focus group				

5.5 **Privacy and Confidentiality**

Policies and procedures established in previous Prevention Study Group protocols are continued:

- Participants must provide appropriate informed consent and assent.
- All data entered and transferred to the coordinating center for accumulation in the central database identify the individual only with a study ID number. The coordinating center does not receive any personal identifiers.
- Each field center maintains a file on each individual that includes personal identifiers, including contact information, and links the individual to the study ID. These data are not entered into the study data management system. The files are kept in secure locations and the field center is responsible for taking every other reasonable measure (those set by the state, the site, and the study) to ensure and maintain record confidentiality and patient privacy.
- All study staff receive training on maintaining the privacy and confidentiality of individual information as well as cumulative study data. Procedures are implemented to protect an individual's privacy, e.g., use of screens in collection of physical measures.
- All study staff sign an annual letter agreeing to maintain privacy and confidentiality of individual data as well as emerging results.

5.6 Treatment Arms

5.6.1 Intervention

The intervention begins with fundamental changes to what is offered and delivered in the total school food environment and physical education classes, enhanced by a phased roll-out of messages and activities across grades to promote education and behavior change both in and out of school. The intervention consists of the following integrated components:

- changes in the nutritional quality of food and beverage offerings throughout the total school food environment, including cafeteria meals and after school snacks offered through federal programs such as the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) and School Breakfast Program (SBP), a la carte, and vending machines;
- changes in the physical education (PE) program and equipment to increase both participation and number of minutes spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity when implemented by PE teachers as part of classroom lesson plans;

- brief classroom activities designed to increase knowledge, enhance decision making skills, promote peer involvement and interaction, and enhance social influence;
- individual and group behavior change initiatives aimed at promoting healthier behaviors through self monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving;
- family outreach to involve parents/guardians and family members by providing information and strategies to support youth in accomplishing behavioral goals;
- school-wide communications to enhance and promote changes in nutrition, activity, and behavior.

Figure 2 shows the relationship between the intervention and the primary outcome.



Figure 2. Relationship Between Intervention and Diabetes Risk

All intervention components are integrated in the delivery of a series of themes targeting specific behaviors and building upon each other. The phased roll-out of messages and activities keeps the program fresh and relevant. Activities are synced to specific school calendars and schedules. Table 2 gives the primary themes by semester, along with specific targeted behaviors:

- The <u>themes</u> highlight the overarching emphasis of promotional and educational campaigns and activities. Activity and nutrition are initially delivered as separate themes and then integrated into the theme of energy balance. In the second half of the 8th grade school year, a wrap-up campaign consolidates the messages of the previous semesters into the theme of "Strength, Balance, and Choice for Life". Students receive feedback on their health status by participating in the end of study health screening.
- The <u>targeted behaviors</u> ensure consistent delivery and reinforcement of messages addressing healthy lifestyle behaviors and changes. Nutrition and activity are continuously targeted. Behaviors become sequentially more complex, starting with education and knowledge based activities and extending to self monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving.

Table 2. Intervention Themes and Targeted Behaviors						
A. THEMES	A. THEMES					
Second Half of 6 th Grade	Water versus Added Sugar Beverages					
First Half of 7 th Grade	Physical Activity versus Sedentary Behavior					
Second Half of 7 th Grade	High Quality versus Low Quality Food					
First Half of 8 th Grade	Energy Balance: Energy In/Energy Out					
Second Half of 8 th Grade	Strength, Balance, and Choice for Life					
B. TARGETED BEHAVIORS						
Increasing water consu	mption					
• Substituting water for a	added sugar beverages					
• Drinking water for heat	lth, nutrition, and hydration					
Choosing healthier foo	ds and drinks for meals and snacks					
• Substituting nutrient de	• Substituting nutrient dense, lower caloric foods for low nutrient, higher caloric foods					
• Self-monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving to increase intake of water, fruits, and vegetables						
• Increasing movement and accumulation of time spent being active						
• Decreasing time spent	• Decreasing time spent in sedentary behavior					
Substituting physical a	Substituting physical activity for sedentary behavior					
 Self-monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving to increase physical activity and decrease sedentary behavior 						

The intervention is accomplished by a two-pronged approach. First is a core of developed programs, materials, lesson plans, workbooks and manuals—i.e., the vehicles. Second is their implementation and delivery using various activities and strategies, including initial and booster training, one-on-one contact and strategic planning between school staff and study staff, and promotional educational and awareness events and campaigns. In order to conduct an efficacy trial that delivers the intervention with the greatest dose, fidelity, and reach, process evaluation data are collected and reviewed on an interim basis. Results are used to modify implementation and delivery in order to maintain the potency of the intervention and assure equal dose delivery and fidelity across sites.

5.6.2 Control

Control school activities emphasize recruitment and data collection. No 'placebo' intervention is delivered. Activities and efforts to retain the involvement of control schools and students throughout the trial are described in the section on Recruitment and Retention Strategies. As for intervention schools, parents receive a health screening report of the child's physical and laboratory measures at baseline and end of study data collection.

At the end of the study, control schools are offered a set of intervention materials (excluding equipment and training sessions).

6 INTEGRATED INTERVENTION COMPONENTS

The intervention components affecting physical education, total school food environment, behavior, and communications are integrated to deliver the phased roll-out of messages and activities according to the themes and targeted behaviors presented in Table 2. Each intervention component is described.

6.1 Physical Education Intervention

The PE Intervention Committee, in collaboration with experienced teachers and national experts, developed a PE class program of lesson plans in units or themes plus a training program that focuses on effective class management, reducing inactivity, and motivational techniques to maximize PE teacher willingness to participate in the intervention. The program was developed in a series of pilot studies and evaluated for performance (i.e., delivery of MVPA).

6.1.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies

The intervention focuses on increasing the moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) levels in the physical education class. The PE intervention target is at least 150 minutes of MVPA over 2 weeks achieved in the required minimum of 225 minutes total PE class time every 2 weeks. The physical education class intervention has been developed with many activities that can be used to enhance MVPA, many administrative techniques that can be used to reduce inactivity during class time, and a training program that focuses on effective class management, reducing inactivity, and motivational techniques.

The intervention optimizes individual achievement so that children can attach values to their own improvements and can, therefore, appreciate improvement in their own skills and abilities. The program emphasizes the ability of PE teachers to choose from a variety of physical activities (individual and team oriented, aerobic, resistance training, and skill activities) that are faithful to state mandated policies governing public school physical education at the seven field centers and meet the study goal of increased MVPA.

The intervention is implemented and managed by the PE teacher in the classroom. The study staff physical activity coordinators (PAC) hired by each field center provide guidance. The PAC is responsible for conducting training sessions for the local participating PE teachers, and for maintaining a collaborative relationship with each teacher throughout the intervention to continue assisting with planning and trouble-shooting. In addition, the study provides each school with one PE teacher assistant to work with the PE teacher in class conducting the study provided units and lesson plans. The study also provides equipment needed to implement the intervention (worth about \$15,000 per school over three years).

The intervention was developed to provide PE teachers with flexibility in teaching the units and lessons. The intervention consists of a core program for each grade level plus a set of choices. The core program consists of the following units/themes: basketball, fitness (6th grade only), soccer, team handball, and FLOW (Fitness Laboratory on Wheels). FLOW is a multi-station exercise program to increase cardiovascular fitness, strength, agility, and muscular endurance developed by a California PE teacher. FLOW gives the students a chance for personal achievement and includes fun activities. FLOW was well-accepted and enjoyed by most students in the previous pilot studies. The other four activity units have been previously evaluated in pilot studies and delivered MVPA for about 75% of the class period. Each core unit contains 10-12 lessons developmentally appropriate for 6th-8th grades. The core units are designed to increase in skill and fitness demands as the intervention progresses.

In addition to these four core units, the PE teacher can choose from the following units to complete the physical education program: cooperative games, dance, fitness, frisbee, football,

lacrosse, softball, street hockey, track and field, racket sports (badminton, pickleball, tennis, table tennis), swimming, and volleyball. These lessons focus on activities that keep all students involved, are designed to increase MVPA, reduce inactive time during the class, and teach skills or techniques required by state mandated curricula.

Finally, each site has the option to develop a unit/theme plan based on local customs and interests. For example, an area with a predominance of Native Americans may have games and activities relating to their heritage that could provide MVPA. These units are developed in consultation between the field center physical activity coordinators and the local PE teachers to ensure the rigor of the specialized unit, and are reviewed by other study group experts.

6.1.2 Schedule and Delivery

The physical education intervention is delivered over a two and a half year period to all students taking PE classes in 6^{th} grade spring semester (2007), in 7^{th} grade (school year 2007-2008), and in 8^{th} grade (school year 2008-2009). In schools assigned to the intervention, all students in these PE classes participate in the study intervention. If the classes at the school are mixed by grade, then all those containing 6^{th} graders initially receive the intervention. During the second and third years, all classes that contain 7^{th} and 8^{th} graders, respectively, receive the intervention.

Any physical education intervention needs to be concerned with growth and development that occur from 6th through 8th grades. This critical growth period from late childhood into adolescence is marked by the beginning of substantial changes in body structure and physiological development. There is the progression from fundamental movements to intermediate levels of motor skill performance connected to sport activities [Robertson 1984]. The quantitative performance changes seem to correspond to neuromuscular development and physiological growth [Seefeldt and Haubenstricker 1982]. Structural factors that provide a mechanical advantage become apparent and begin to influence the production of leverage and rotation needed to powerfully propel objects in running, jumping, throwing, kicking, and striking [Adrian and Cooper 1995]. The capacity to integrate perception of moving objects and initiate a motor response (e.g., hand or foot and eve coordination timing), for striking, kicking, and catching becomes stabilized about this time period [Gabbard 2004]. Practice and instruction in the basic movement skills and in combinations of these skills leads to physiologic and motoric changes. This strongly suggests that the PE curriculum needs to be adjusted by grade level to accommodate changing motoric capacities. The study intervention lesson plans increase motor skill complexity grade by grade within each unit. By increasing motoric capacities and improving fitness, the student attains an increased ability to exercise, resulting in improved self-concept and better enjoyment of exercise. Thus, the student is more willing to participate in future exercise programs. In addition, the increased complexity challenges the student to improve within his/her own capacity, and allows students to participate and experience new skills and a variety of physical activities.

Each field center study staff includes a physical activity coordinator (PAC) to oversee intervention implementation. In addition, the study provides a PE teacher assistant for each intervention school. Local PE teachers attend study conducted training sessions that focus on performing the units/lessons, effective management techniques to reduce inactive time during PE class, and ways to motivate youngsters. Regular consultation between the physical activity coordinator and local PE teachers continues to ensure the integrity of the intervention throughout the duration of the trial.

Success of the program is linked to each local PE teacher's willingness, motivation, and cooperation in delivering the intervention. A first step is to develop a professional and respectful relationship between the PE teacher and the physical activity coordinator, with the goal being to empower the PE teacher to actively engage in and implement the physical education intervention. This begins in initial meetings, in-class observation, and training, and continues in booster training and one-on-one sessions throughout the intervention.

6.2 Nutrition/Food Environment Intervention

The nutrition intervention component was developed by the Nutrition Intervention Committee, and focuses on 5 specific goals representing targeted changes in the foods served or offered to students in the total school food environment. <u>Served</u> refers to items taken by the student, either through sale or subsidized program; <u>offered</u> refers to all food and beverage items made available to students from which they may select. The <u>total school food service environment</u> comprises: the federal meal programs (National School Lunch Program or NSLP, the School Breakfast Program or SBP, the after-school snack program, and the supper program), a la carte (including snack bars and school stores), vending machines, fundraisers, and classroom parties and celebrations. Emphasis is placed on positive changes in foods and nutrients that improve student dietary intake. The main objective of the nutrition intervention is for schools to achieve and maintain all prescribed goals for the duration of the trial.

Outcome data measure (1) the specific changes to the school food environment in terms of what foods and beverages are served, how food is prepared, and consequent changes and trends in food and beverage purchases and (2) student dietary intake, especially changes in nutrients (total energy, percent energy from fat, snacks and desserts), food groups (fruits, vegetables, and whole grains), and beverages. The success of the intervention is dependent upon changing the total school food environment to serve and offer foods and beverages that are representative of choices that decrease intakes of added sugar beverages and low nutrient dense foods, while encouraging recommended intakes of fruit, vegetables, low fat food items, and whole grain or high fiber grain-based foods and legumes. The intervention is designed primarily to accomplish school food service environmental changes. Integrated activities with the behavior and communications intervention elements seek to move indicators of nutrient intake.

6.2.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies

The nutrition/food environment intervention component is designed to instigate early entry into the food purchasing process, leading to early and sustainable changes in foods/beverages served and offered. Periodic training and contact with school food service personnel and district staff are performed to maintain consistency of the intervention implementation as well as attention to and enthusiasm for making the change goals. Strategies are developed to address implementation approaches for each goal. Implementation and maintenance of successful changes are helped by consistent and sustainable interaction between the study staff research dietitian and the food service staff.

Changes to eliminate sweetened beverages available from vending beverage machines are recognized as a special challenge if 'pouring contracts' exist. This means that vending machine operations are not under the total control of the food service or school administration. The study makes aggressive efforts to implement goals targeting added sugar beverages in vending, starting with decreases and substitutions in 6th grade and complete elimination in 7th and 8th grades. These efforts include contact and arrangements with local and national sweetened beverage producers and distributors. Only schools that agree to comply with all aspects of the protocol including elimination of added sugar beverages in vending machines are eligible to participate in the study.

Total school food environment change goals are described in Table 3. These goals are based on the minimum number of food group servings that can be offered as part of the USDA school lunch/breakfast program and the maximum for which school food service currently receives reimbursement. Exceeding the minimum allowable servings is an additional cost factor.

Table 3. Nutrition/Food Environment Intervention Goals

Goal I: Lower the average fat content of food served in school.

Goal II: Serve at least 2 servings of fruit and/or vegetables per student on NSLP and at least 1 serving per student on SBP each day

Goal III: Serve all dessert and snack foods with ≤ 200 calories per single size serving and/or package.

Goal IV: Eliminate milk > 1%, all other added sugar beverages, and 100% fruit juice (100% fruit juice may only be served as ≤ 6 ounces as part of SBP and/or after school snacks).

Goal V: Serve at least 2 servings of grain-based foods and/or legumes (≥ 2 g fiber per serving) per student on NSLP and at least 1 serving per student on SBP each day.

The study investigators recognize that schools across the country are currently making voluntary changes to total school food environment offerings, motivated in large part by increased publicity and awareness of adolescent dietary intake and obesity levels. Therefore, goals and outcome strategies included in the intervention are relevant for each study intervention school, but there may be differences in implementation times. That is, some schools may have already implemented some aspects of the intervention and may have attained the goal at baseline but may need to focus on sustainability of those goals.

6.2.2 Schedule and Delivery

To implement the intervention, the field center study staff includes a research dietitian (RD) with experience and education in dietetics or nutrition and food service management. The RD works with the school food service staff to guide goal progress and achievement over time.

Targeted activities are sequenced to strengthen the focus and sustainability of the intervention:

- The RD participates in the <u>recruitment of schools</u> with attention to assessment of the current total school food environment at both the school district and local school level, including what foods and beverages are offered, how foods/beverages are purchased and prepared, how operations document production activities, and to review the food environment goals. The RD encourages food purchases and bids within schools randomized to intervention to support availability of alternative food/beverage products aligned with the intended goals.
- <u>Pre-intervention</u>, the RD implements training programs for all food service personnel at intervention schools. The RD works with the school managers to schedule and deliver a training workshop for the school food service staff prior to intervention implementation. Training includes an overview of type 2 diabetes in youth, a discussion of the relationship between diabetes and the obesity epidemic in this country, and an explanation of the prevention trial. Specific intervention objectives are explained for the school food service staff operational activities. These include the positioning of acceptable food and beverage items, 'best' food preparation and presentation practices, promotion ideas, and pricing issues. The food service staff learns about procedures and forms used to collect data needed to evaluate the outcomes. Refresher workshops are scheduled twice a year.
- In <u>6th grade</u> RDs work with the food service staff to provide training and guidance in implementing the intervention environmental changes to support campaigns to introduce changes. A minimum number of outcome strategies are activated to achieve the nutrition goals. The cafeteria venue serves as an extended classroom. Activities targeting more water

and less added sugar beverages, awareness of broader benefits of a variety of new food choices, and the synergy between physical activity and food choices are introduced.

- In 7th grade activities to support achievement of all nutrition goals are continued. Support of concepts introduced in 6th grade is further enhanced by highlighting the role of lower fat and sugar snacks in the activities and messaging. RDs provide on-going training and guidance to food service personnel to sustain changes in food/beverages served as described in the goal statements. School campus vending issues are specifically targeted to increase access to more water and to healthy snack options. RDs participate in outreach to parents and educators designed to explain and expand the food and nutrition messages within the trial.
- In <u>8th grade</u> continued support of goals and strategies introduced in 6th and 7th grades are further enhanced by highlighting the synergy between student dietary intake goals and the activities and messaging within the trial. RDs provide guidance to food service personnel to sustain the training introduced in the trial and to continue to make changes in food/beverages served as described in the goal statements. RDs participate in outreach to parents and educators designed to explain and expand the food and nutrition messages within the trial.

6.3 Behavior Intervention

The behavior intervention component was developed by the Behavior Intervention Committee to extend changes introduced in the school environment more broadly into affecting lifestyle choices both in and out of school. The behavior change intervention elements have been carefully selected to complement the other intervention components and include brief classroom activities, individual and group behavior change initiatives, and parent/family outreach.

6.3.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies

The behavior intervention is a combination of integrated components:

- FLASH (Fun Learning Activities for Student Health) are brief classroom activities designed to increase knowledge, enhance decision making skills, promote peer involvement and interaction, and enhance social influence.
- Self-monitoring campaigns are individual and group behavior change initiatives integrated into the FLASH activities that aim to promote healthier behaviors through self monitoring, goal setting, and problem solving.
- Family outreach activities involve parents/guardians and family members by providing information, strategies, and opportunities to support youth in accomplishing behavioral goals.

Each component incorporates communications strategies to maximize the attractiveness of the healthier behaviors and decrease the attractiveness of less healthy choices. Student peer communicators are identified to help in the implementation of the behavior intervention. In addition, within-site intervention challenges and sharing are extended throughout the intervention period to cross-site (study-wide) opportunities as feasible.

The behavior intervention components incorporate various behavior modification strategies:

- self monitoring;
- goal setting, emphasizing the concept of personal choice and self efficacy, and providing a knowledge base designed to motivate healthier choices;
- group competition, designed to build momentum over the weeks of the campaign; and
- reinforcement through social recognition and rewards.

Goal setting and self-monitoring occur throughout to reinforce and encourage children to 'overlearn' key skills that are essential for behavior change. Each semester's activities refer back to prior goal-setting and self-monitoring activities so as to reinforce these skills and foster repeated practice of

these activities. Events and activities build upon each other. Targeted behaviors are reinforced by special recognition activities and items for participating in challenges and competitions.

6.3.2 Schedule and Delivery

6.3.2.1 In-class Activities: Fun Learning Activities for Student Health (FLASH)

FLASH (Fun Learning Activities for Student Health) is the term used to denote brief classroom modules used as a vehicle to promote nutrition and physical activity comprehension, enhance program synergy, and overcome barriers to healthy nutrition and physical activity practices. Each module is delivered in a series of activities within the classroom setting. Each activity is designed to last no more than 30 minutes. The planned content begins with the second half of 6th grade and continues to end of study. The activities target different aspects of nutrition and physical activity to correspond with the integrated intervention, as presented in Table 2.

The school principal and authorities responsible for scheduling choose the classes for FLASH activities. The selection and sequencing of the activities are pre-determined and provided in teacher manuals and student workbooks. Students work singly and in teams. Each of the activities in the module is self-contained, with a scripted introduction and conclusion. Elements are introduced to assist students in gaining knowledge and providing healthy peer influences. The activities begin with self-assessment to establish a baseline, and involve problem solving and scripted discussion points promoting maximum participation from all students, with each student involved in both thinking and doing. Application of cooperative skills, such as listening and communicating, problem solving, decision making, and sharing, allows for staged classroom control, with practice working together. Students begin to gain insight from each other as they complete a task related to better understanding of the health behavior. Small group work sharing and presentation are planned during the last activity of each module. Students also complete a brief self-assessment questionnaire as part of the final activity. Opportunities to share student-created messages across sites further enhances the importance of the study goals and builds enthusiasm for behavior change.

6.3.2.2 Behavior Change Initiatives: Self-monitoring Campaigns

The self-monitoring campaigns of the behavior intervention package are introduced in a tiered and sequenced manner across the intervention period, and are designed to coordinate with the integration themes presented in Table 2. The self-monitoring campaigns follow a consistent structure within each semester, while the thematic content or focus shifts across semesters.

Within each semester of the intervention period, a self-monitoring campaign consists of classroom-based activities integrated within and building upon the prior FLASH classroom activities. Each activity lasts 15-20 minutes and uses a self-monitoring vehicle such as tickets. Each campaign starts with establishing the rationale for self-monitoring. Students increase self awareness throughout the activity:

- 1. They first indicate current (or 'baseline') levels of the targeted behaviors.
- 2. They then work through a 'personal challenge' in which youth are provided information on the target behavior to guide them in setting personal goals for behavior change. Students are challenged to alter (increase or decrease, as applicable) the target behaviors according to their personal goals.
- 3. The campaign ends with a 'group challenge' or competition in which students compete as teams to see which groups achieve the greatest behavior change in the desired direction.

Throughout, youth may be given small giveaway items or social recognition and rewards to reinforce behavior change and self-monitoring activities. They are provided with group feedback about their efforts.

Self-monitoring campaigns engage increasingly large groups of students over the course of the trial to sustain participant engagement, to maintain momentum and enthusiasm within schools, and to capitalize on developmental changes in middle school youth. As feasible, group competitions become progressively bigger in scope/geographic reach across time, building from the simplest level of classroom competitions (in 6th grade) and culminating with a national multi-center competition (in 8th grade). Campaigns are designed to be consistent with school and district policies. Group contests are structured to eliminate use of any identifiable individual data; aggregate data are used to protect privacy and confidentiality (e.g., average servings of water, average decrease in screen time). Additionally, teachers, staff, parents, and administrators are encouraged to participate in the campaign as positive role models for the importance of healthy lifestyle behavior change.

6.3.2.3 Family Outreach

Family outreach involves distribution of newsletters, other written communications, and possibly events or activities which provide the following opportunities:

- Inform parents about the intervention components and goals. Newsletters contain information about the value of recommended behaviors (e.g., increasing water intake, increasing physical activity, reducing sedentary behavior) and the nature of the physical education, nutrition, and behavior intervention components at their local school.
- Involve families in the dissemination of the intervention messages. Newsletters feature elements about and/or contributed by actual parents at the school (such as jokes, recipes, or tips). Suggestions are made about how to stimulate communications between parents and children related to the behavior goals.
- Provide continued exposure to intervention messages during school breaks and vacations.

Study staff develop newsletter contents. A template layout is created for insertion of local text and pictures. Student peer communicators may be asked to perform as 'photo-journalists' or reporters taking pictures, collecting stories, recording student quotes, and generating captions during studyrelated events. First person narratives of parents dealing with health-related choices and changes are derived from two parent focus groups per field center per year. The HAT is also used to provide advice and support for both the newsletter and participatory events.

In addition, parent reaction to family outreach events and activities is gathered in focus groups; up to two groups of about 8 parents each are conducted at each field center each year of the intervention.

6.4 School-wide Communications

Together, the Prevention Communications Committee and the Communications Core develop materials, activities, and messages that motivate students and build excitement within the student population around behavioral goals for each semester's intervention, and for healthier behaviors generally. Communications activities, messages, and support materials promote the benefits of and attempt to lower some key barriers to targeted physical activity and dietary changes.

Communications are delivered in unified campaigns. There is one campaign for each intervention theme (see Table 2) as well as for recruitment and retention efforts. The campaigns tie together all communication elements, maximize the impact of the communications, and establish a common theme across all study materials. Materials match closely the identified needs of the committees involved in the intervention (Behavior, PE, and Nutrition/Food Service) as well as Recruitment and Retention.

The study has chosen "HEALTHY" as its identity. The identity is the study's public face or brand, and becomes the one consistent and unifying factor for all study communications materials and messages regardless of audience, venue, or time. The identity conveys the essential characteristics of the study as a memorable and appealing name and graphic representation (logo), which then becomes the identifying element on all communications materials. The identity, coupled with the communications campaign, provides a look and feel that helps to unify and integrate all study activities, including the multiple interventions and activities related to each semester's theme, recruitment, and retention. The name and other materials and messages are developed for all sites to use for recruitment and the launch of the study as well as to reinforce core behavior change goals.

While the project identity and communications campaigns are developed first and foremost to build awareness and motivation for core behavior changes among students, the project identity and materials must also be acceptable to the other target audiences for the project including NIH/NIDDK, the collaborative study group, study school districts, school personnel, and students' families.

6.4.1 Overview of Goals and Strategies

The goal of school-wide communications is to make HEALTHY fun and exciting for kids and a positive reinforcement for adults. Activities, messages, and materials are designed to motivate and engage students in ways that make students (1) more receptive to behavioral, nutrition, and physical activity changes introduced by the intervention and (2) more likely to internalize healthier behaviors outside the classroom and cafeteria environments.

Motivational activities support and extend the two main environmental interventions (nutrition/food environment and physical education), the behavior interventions (FLASH, self-monitoring campaigns, and family outreach), and recruitment and retention. Across the intervention period, school-wide communications promote targeted changes in students' physical activity and diet behaviors, namely, increasing healthy behaviors (e.g., increasing water, fruit, vegetable, whole grain consumption, and physical activity) and decreasing unhealthy behaviors (e.g., decreasing sugar added beverage, other unhealthy food consumption, and screen time).

To achieve optimal engagement within the intervention student population, the communications plan offers a fully supported menu of:

- core materials and actions,
- events designed to offer sites regional, cultural, and operational flexibility, and
- premiums, i.e., small items given to all students that support the event and core options chosen for that semester's intervention theme.

Study staff leads a team of student peer communicators at each site who help select each semester's event(s) and premium choices to allow operational, developmental, and regional customization. This framework is designed to offer maximum buy-in to students. In addition, they provide an informal avenue for getting student feedback about how well communications activities are targeting the needs of the students (e.g., are developmentally and culturally appropriate) and inform any refinement made to the communications campaign during the course of the trial.

No intervention-related communications activities take place until initial recruitment has been completed. The Communications Core at Planit designs and develops materials in collaboration with the Communications Committee. The core uses insights gleaned from consumer research to position target behaviors more attractively to the study stakeholders (students and their families, school personnel, and the study staff).

Addressing the normative environment in each school is a particularly critical objective of the school-wide communications campaigns. Encouraging participation and endorsement and neutralizing resistance among influential older students is particularly important. The goal is for staff, older students, and those peers most likely to be influential among large constituencies of the school population to model and encourage the desired behaviors for students generally (and younger students in particular) to believe that "if this is the way these things are done at my school (or among my peers), then this is how I'm expected to act, too".

School-wide communications campaigns and messages are designed to reflect the main themes of the project. To achieve maximum identity, the HEALTHY brand or logo is used in all

communication materials. As possible, the HEALTHY logo is also used to co-brand the PE equipment, food packaging, and other tangible materials used/distributed in the intervention schools.

6.4.2 Schedule and Delivery

The field center project coordinator oversees implementation of recruitment and retention materials, and the health promotion coordinator (HPC) oversees implementation of school-wide communications materials related to the intervention. The core set of school-wide communications materials are available with a common look and feel for use throughout the school. They are used according to a schedule coordinated with the integrated themes phased roll-out. The additional elements (events and premiums) are chosen by each school's student peer communicators, in collaboration with study staff, from a short menu of options early in the intervention semester. Schools are encouraged to maximize use of all available materials and events for study promotion.

The Communications Committee supports (1) training, materials supply, and support for student peer communicators and (2) study elements that are both motivational and instructional, including (but not limited to) cafeteria learning materials, newsletters, incentives, and flyers.

7 MEASUREMENTS AND EVALUATIONS

7.1 Primary and Secondary Outcome Measures

This section presents the schedule of data collection and procedures and instruments used, with appropriate supportive evidence, justification, and validation. Primary and secondary outcomes are measured per student unless otherwise indicated:

Primary

- 1. BMI percentile* (BMI determined by height and weight, percentile adjusted for gender and age)
- 2. fasting glucose (mg/dL)
- 3. fasting insulin (μ U/mL)

* outcome for which the study is powered

Secondary

- 1. lipids (total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, triglycerides)
- 2. other laboratory indicators of diabetes and obesity risk, such as HbA1c
- 3. blood pressure
- 4. waist circumference
- 5. physical activity
- 6. sedentary behavior
- 7. fitness
- 8. daily nutritional intake
 - (a) calories overall and from specified food groups
 - (b) percent calories from fat
 - (c) servings of fruits, vegetables, high fiber grain based foods, high fiber legumes
 - (d) water
- 9. FLASH self-assessment scores
- 10. PE class activity level (MVPA by heart rate monitor)
- 11. quality-adjusted life years saved (QALYS)
- 12. total school food environment amounts and nutrients
 - (a) kilocalories
 - (b) fat
 - (c) fiber

- (d) fruits and vegetables
- (e) dessert and snack food
- (f) beverages (milk, added sugar, juice, water)
- (g) grain-based foods and legumes
- 13. grade and school level state standardized test score pass rates
- 14. grade and school level attendance rates
- 15. grade and school level comportment rates (i.e., referral to administrative offices for disciplinary action)
- 16. costs associated with intervention delivery and administration
- 17. decisions, policies, and activities at the school, local, state, or federal level that influence the school environment for nutrition and physical activity

Two additional types of data are collected: (1) demographic data and individual characteristics and (2) process evaluation data. The following demographic and descriptive data are collected: gender, age, race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status (head of household highest education level), sexual maturity (Tanner stage), family history of diabetes, and child's medical history. Process evaluation data are collected in intervention schools only to document and monitor intervention dose, fidelity, and reach.

Intervention staff members also collect feedback information on an informal basis to help them with intervention delivery. The methods of collection are typically quick survey or observation related to a specific event or activity, with immediate interpretation and application. Feedback is not considered study data and is not described further.

7.2 Outcomes and Data Collection Schedule

Table 4. Schedule of Data Collection Measures and Procedures						
Measures and Procedures Schedule						
	1 st half 6 th (base- line)	2 nd half 6 th	1 st half 7 th	2 nd half 7 th	1 st half 8 th	2 nd half 8 th (end of study)
Demographic and Descriptive Characteristics	Demographic and Descriptive Characteristics					
• sex, date of birth, race/ethnicity	Х					х
socioeconomic status	Х					х
• family history of diabetes	Х					Х
medical history	Х					Х
• sexual maturity (Tanner stage)	Х					Х
Student Physical Measures						
• fasting glucose, insulin, lipids, other labs, banked blood specimens	х					Х
• height, weight	Х			Х		Х
waist circumference	Х					X
blood pressure	Х					х
• fitness (20-meter shuttle test)	Х					Х

Table 4 lists data collection measures and procedures and indicates during which half-year block they are recorded.

Table 4. Schedule of Data Collection Measures and Procedures						
Measures and Procedures Schedule						
	1 st half 6 th (base- line)	2 nd half 6 th	1 st half 7 th	2 nd half 7 th	1 st half 8 th	2 nd half 8 th (end of study)
• adverse events	Х					Х
Student Self-report Behaviors						
• diet/nutrient intake (FFQ)	X					Х
• physical activity (SAPAC)	х					Х
• sedentary behavior (SAPAC)	х					Х
• FLASH self-assessment scores (a)		Х	Х	Х	Х	
Economic Cost-Effectiveness						
• student health-related quality of life	X			Х		Х
personnel costs	х	Х	X	Х	Х	Х
• PE costs	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
school food environment costs	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
• behavior intervention costs (a)	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
• communications intervention costs (a)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
School Food Environment						
• ordering, production, and sales records	X			Х		Х
• record of vending machine contents	Х			Х		Х
• item-based nutrient analysis	х			Х		Х
PE Activity Level						
• MVPA (heart rate) x				Х		Х
School Academic Performance		1	1	1	1	1
standard test scores	(b)	x		x		x
attendance	(b)	X	x	X	X	X
comportment	(b)	X	X	X	X	X
Environmental Influences			1		1	
• decisions policies mandates changes		x		x		x
		Α		Α		Α
Process Evaluation (a)		v	v	v	v	v
observation PE class percent student participation in DE		X	X	X	X	X
• percent student participation in FE		A V	A V	A V	A V	A V
 device r E intervention derivery observation food environment changes 		x	x	x	x	x
 review nutrition intervention delivery 		x	x	x	x	x
 nercent participation in FLASH 		X	x	X	X	X
 proportion FLASH delivered 		X	X	X	X	X
 observation FLASH in-class 		X	X	X	X	X
review behavior intervention delivery		х	х	х	х	х
• peer communicator activities		х	Х	Х	Х	Х

	Table 4. Schedule of Data Collection Measures and Procedures						
Measures and Procedures		Schedule					
		1 st half 6 th (base- line)	2 nd half 6 th	1 st half 7 th	2 nd half 7 th	1 st half 8 th	2 nd half 8 th (end of study)
٠	peer communicator focus groups		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
•	use of communications materials		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
•	student recall messages and activities		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
•	school administrator interview		Х		Х		Х
٠	integration management survey		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

(a) intervention schools only

(b) baseline measures of academic performance are collected for school year 2005-2006

7.3 **Procedures and Instruments**

7.3.1 Demographics and Descriptive Characteristics

Students provide <u>sex</u>, <u>date of birth</u>, <u>and race/ethnicity</u> by self report. Parent/guardian completes a self report form with items for:

- socioeconomic status, i.e., highest level of education attained by head of household;
- <u>family history</u> of diabetes in first degree blood relatives;
- <u>medical history</u> of the child, i.e., diagnosis of diabetes and current medications.

Data are collected at baseline and at end of study, when additional students are recruited for measurement.

7.3.2 Health Screening

7.3.2.1 Anthropometrics, Blood Pressure, and Fasting Blood

Measurements are made by trained staff who use standard equipment and adhere to calibration procedures provided by the study. Students are instructed to wear light, loose-fitting clothing. To ensure privacy, measurements are made behind a screen. <u>Height and weight</u> are measured without shoes. <u>Blood pressure</u> is measured at 3 points, the first taken after the subject has been sitting quietly for at least 5 minutes and the second and third taken at least 1 minute apart. Blood pressure is measured using an automatic inflatable digital blood pressure monitor with variable cuff sizes. <u>Waist circumference</u> is taken on bare skin measured just above the iliac crest.

<u>Fasting blood</u> is drawn to determine insulin, glucose, and lipids, as well as provide stored samples for later evaluation. The evening before data collection, the study staff calls the students scheduled for the next day's blood draws to remind them not to eat any food or drink anything except water after midnight, not to eat breakfast, and to wear comfortable loose-fitting clothing. Parents are asked to bring their children to school early the next morning and have them report to the area designated for data collection. Standard procedures are followed by licensed phlebotomists with experience working with children. A study physician is available by phone in case of adverse events. A numbing cream may be applied with adequate approval. Approximately 20 mL (about 4 teaspoons) blood is drawn at each data collection, half for immediate analysis of study outcomes and half for storage. Tubes are labeled with the child's study ID number. Blood is processed, handled, stored, and shipped following instructions provided by the central blood laboratory.

7.3.2.2 Sexual Maturity (Tanner Stage)

Sexual maturation or pubertal stage is determined using the Pubertal Development Scale (PDS) [Petersen et al. 1988], a self-administered questionnaire that has been widely used as a non-invasive indicator of pubertal status [Petersen et al. 1983; Robertson et al. 1992]. The PDS has two 5-item subscales, one for each gender. The subscales consist of specific developmental characteristics such as growth spurt, pubic hair, and skin change for both boys and girls, facial hair growth and voice change for boys, and breast development and menarche for girls. These are coded on a 4-level ordinal response scale. Tanner score is determined by an algorithm combining the responses. The scale is internally consistent, with alphas ranging from 0.68 to 0.83 (median of 0.77). Adequate correlations have been found between the PDS and physician ratings of sexual maturity based on the Tanner scale (r=0.61-0.67), between the PDS and adolescent self-reports based on Tanner scale pictures (0.72-0.80) [BrooksGunn and Warren 1988], and between the PDS and age at peak height velocity and interviewer assessments of maturity [Petersen et al. 1988]. Further evidence of validity is that the measure reveals expected patterns of pubertal change [Petersen et al. 1988]. The scale is self administered at baseline and end of study.

7.3.3 Physical Activity Intervention

7.3.3.1 Activity Level in PE Class (Heart Rate Monitor)

Activity level in PE classes is collected in both intervention and control schools as a secondary outcome measure at baseline, second semester of 7th grade, and end of study. The data are used to interpret study findings and evaluate the ability of the intervention to attain the targeted level of MVPA. Data are recorded on heart rate monitors worn by consented students during the PE class. The sample of specific classes and students is selected by an unbiased scheme generated by the coordinating center. Measurement times are unannounced to prevent bias in selection of activities by the PE teachers.

7.3.3.2 Fitness (20-Meter Shuttle Test)

The measure of fitness is based on the number of laps completed during the 20-meter shuttle test (20-MST) [Leger and Lambert 1982; Tompkinson et al. 2003]. Although there are a number of other modalities to assess fitness, the other testing methods are either too challenging for children or require expensive equipment. The 20-MST (1) can be accomplished in available school space [Klissouras and Tokmakidis 1982; Baquet et al. 2001; Guerra et al. 2002], (2) can be administered to a large number of youth within a single class period, and (3) requires no specialized equipment other than a tape/CD player and stopwatch.

The test requires the subjects to run back and forth between two lines set 20 meters apart. The running pace is determined by audio signals emitted from a pre-recorded CD. The initial velocity is 8.5 km/h, and the velocity increases by 0.5 km/h every minute. The test is completed when the participant is not able to complete the distance at the stipulated pace on two laps. A score for the test is assigned based on how many stages and laps were completed. Leger et al. [1988] also used number of laps completed to compute a measure of maximal aerobic power (cardiorespiratory fitness, or VO₂max). The test was initially validated by Leger et al. [1988] but has been validated a number of times by other investigators. Boreham et al. [1990] validated this protocol against the PWC test and a VO₂max test in a sample of high school students and found a high correlation, r=0.87. This test has also been validated against VO₂max in a sample of 103 twelve-year-old non-Caucasians with r=0.83 for boys and r=0.76 for girls. The reliability of the test was r=0.73 for boys and r=0.88 for girls [Mahoney 1992]. The 20-MST has been used successfully in large school-based population studies

[Baquet et al. 2001; Guerra et al. 2002] and seems a sensitive tool to assess improvement in aerobic power in youth.

All students participate in the 20-meter shuttle test (20-MST) during PE classes at baseline and end of 8th grade. Study staff not involved in the intervention delivery administer the test and record outcome data; however, data are used only for those students providing consent/assent.

7.3.3.3 Self-report Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior (SAPAC)

There are a number of self-report questionnaires used to obtain information on physical activity patterns in adolescents. This trial uses the 2-day version of the Self-Administered Physical Activity Checklist (SAPAC) [Gilmer et al. 1996; Sallis et al. 1993, 1996] to estimate physical activity levels and sedentary behaviors. SAPAC is an activity-based self-report measure. The instrument is structured around a list of activities with minimal cues about the time of day. The respondent reports minutes per day of the specific activity performed over the previous two days. The SAPAC also includes information of sedentary activities, including television and video viewing, computer time, reading and homework, telephone time, and hanging out with friends.

McMurray et al. [2004] compared two different survey methods to each other and to physical activity measured by accelerometry. They reported that the overall 2-day test-retest reliability correlation was 0.67. The correlations for MVPA comparing different survey methods and accelerometer counts measured for 3 days were generally poor, favoring neither type of recall. However, correlations for vigorous physical activity and accelerometer counts were higher for an activity-based approach (SAPAC) than for a time-based (PDPAR) approach (r = 0.281 vs. 0.162).

7.3.4 Nutrition Intervention

7.3.4.1 Self-report Diet/Nutrient Intake (FFQ)

Students self report dietary intake using a semi-quantified food frequency questionnaire which solicits information from the past week. Food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) are the most commonly used tool in nutritional epidemiology and have contributed greatly to the understanding of many diet-disease associations. Research has shown that nutrient intakes assessed by standardized food frequency questionnaires are reasonably correlated with those from more detailed methods and thus provide a valid representation of usual intake for ranking subjects [Willet 2000]. Because food frequency questionnaires can be self-administered, they provide a method of collecting data that is relatively low cost for large population studies.

The Block Kids FFQ asks about approximately 100 food items. It solicits information concerning portion sizes using a serving size visual. The original questionnaire [Block et al. 1986] was validated in numerous studies and in a variety of populations [Block and DiSogra 1995; Block et al. 1990, 1992, 1994] and has been redesigned for use with children. A small validation study was conducted among seventy-four 8-10 year old African-American children attending school in Philadelphia; the comparison tool was one 24-hour dietary recall. Correlation coefficients ranged from .40-.50 for total energy, fat, saturated and monosaturated fat, carbohydrate, fiber, and calcium [abstract presented at the 4th International Conference on Dietary Assessment Methods].

Standard software is used to analyze the data collected. The software determines estimates of usual intake for a variety of nutrients, including calculations of daily frequency and amounts for individual food items as well as by food group.

7.3.4.2 School Food Environment

In order to determine attainment of total school food environment goals, sales and production records for foods and beverages from cafeteria meals and programs, a la carte, and vending machines

are collected at baseline and end of 7th and 8th grade school years. Data are collected for 20 consecutive day-long periods. Production records and meal participation rates are extracted from source documents provided by the food service manager at each school. Sales data are provided by cash register records or by the food service manager at each school, or in the case of snack and beverage vending, by the party responsible for the vending machines (school specific).

Foods are analyzed for nutrient content. Analysis software applies a nutrient database that uses site-specific food and beverage items to produce a data file with complete breakdown of nutrients and food components.

7.3.5 Behavior Intervention

7.3.5.1 FLASH Self-Assessment Score

Self-assessment data are recorded and collected as part of the FLASH in-class activities. There is a FLASH workbook for each campaign or theme. Activities begin with self-assessment to establish a baseline 'score' based on how frequently the student performs or engages in certain behaviors. At the end of the module, the student completes the same self assessment. Change in score pre to post indicates the success of the activities to promote acquisition of critical knowledge and self-efficacy for health-related behavior change. Pirouznia [2000; 2001] has shown a direct correlation between nutrition knowledge and food choices for both boys and girls in middle school. Both male and female subjects' fat and sugar intake are negatively related to their self-efficacy for making healthful food choices [Cusatis et al. 1996] and self-efficacy has been shown to be an important mediator of physical activity among youth [Chase 2001; Johnson et al. 2000].

7.3.6 Economic Cost-Effectiveness

7.3.6.1 Health Related Quality of Life

Economic evaluation of the prevention intervention intends to express the value for cost of the intervention by use of cost-effectiveness analysis. The cost-effectiveness ratio is the cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) [Gold et al. 1996]. This ratio reports the cost required to purchase one fully functional year of health. QALYS combine length of survival (mortality) and level of functioning (morbidity) into a single measure. QALY weights generally range between 0 (death) and 1 (perfect health)—e.g., a health state with a utility value of 0.8 indicates that a year in that state is worth 0.8 years with perfect health—but there can be states worse than death (less than 0).

Quality adjusted life year (QALY) is determined by self-report using a validated health-related quality of life instrument. Two instruments are administered: (1) the visual-analog feeling thermometer from the EuroQoL (EQ-5D) preference assessment instrument and (2) the Health Utilities Index (HUI), a preference-weighted health state classification system.

7.3.6.2 Intervention Resource Expenditure and Outlay

Cost data are collected at the school level only—no collection of cost information from students and their parents is planned. The goal is to assess all resource use and costs, regardless of whether a monetary transaction has taken place. The following data are collected:

• <u>Food service</u>: Food, labor, and central kitchen costs assigned to the site; revenues (total a la carte cash sales by day, cash meal and program sales, USDA reimbursements); meal and program participation (total number of serving days, count by day and by free/reduced/paid category); intervention costs (research dietitian salary, training costs, travel costs).

- <u>Physical education</u>: Time PE teachers spend in class teaching students; equipment and supplies; intervention costs (physical activity coordinator salary, PE teacher assistant salary, training costs, travel costs).
- <u>Behavior change</u>: Time classroom teachers spend in class delivering behavior intervention components; supplies; intervention costs (health promotion coordinator salary, health promotion coordinator assistant salary, training costs, travel costs).
- <u>Communications and promotions</u>: Costs related to posted media, such as banners and posters, as well as events and activities.
- <u>Personnel costs</u>: Intervention and research level of effort for study staff.

Total school food environment and physical education cost data are collected at both intervention and control schools; otherwise data are retrieved from intervention schools only. Costs of school environment changes, in-kind donations, and outside grants are also collected.

7.3.7 School Academic Performance

Although the potential health benefits of the proposed intervention are extremely important, scholastic excellence is the primary purpose of schools. If the intervention is successful but associated with an adverse impact on scholastic performance, it will have little chance of being widely adopted. Scholastic performance includes aggregate academic performance, attendance, and disciplinary actions. These data are collected throughout the study in both intervention and control schools.

Data are collected to document the characteristics of the respective state accountability test and the total number and passing rates of students taking the test. The subject areas of interest are math and reading. These tests are taken by 6th, 7th, and 8th graders in intervention and control schools every year. Grade and school level data are recorded—no individual student data are collected.

In addition, data are collected to determine rates of grade level absences and referrals for disciplinary action. Policy and practice related to disciplinary referrals and any changes are recorded.

7.3.8 Environmental Influence

Changes may occur in and around the school that impact on the school's nutrition and physical activity programs during the intervention period. These influences may occur at either or both control and intervention schools and may be due to federal, state, or local mandates, policies, or decisions. It is necessary to document external independent programmatic, policy, and environmental changes to assess their potential effects. Assessing these potential confounding effects is critical in a multi-year intervention that focuses on the impact of a strong environmental intervention. It is particularly important for this trial because of the increasing national awareness of the prevalence of obesity and low physical activity levels among children and adolescents [Troiano and Flegel 1998]. National recommendations, referenda, and initiatives are ongoing and proposed that can influence the trial's primary outcome in both intervention and control schools.

Data are collected related to physical activity and nutrition that may occur in the school but are not necessarily part of the study intervention, including: (1) aspects of the environment in the school, in the school neighborhood, during school hours, and after or before school, (2) grants and research program initiatives, (3) local, state, or federal mandates, (4) promotions and advertising.

Data are collected at the end of each school year. Data collected relate specifically to the grade involved in the intervention that year. Longitudinal changes from one year to the next or from the beginning of the study to the end as well as group (control vs. intervention) differences can be assessed to help interpret potential changes in study outcomes.

7.3.9 Process Evaluation

Process evaluation takes a broad approach to assesses the extent to which interventions are delivered and received as intended. It assesses *fidelity* of intervention delivery (the extent to which the intervention is delivered as intended), the intervention *dose* (how much of the intended intervention is delivered), and the *reach* to the groups targeted by the intervention (the proportion of intended recipients who actually participate in an intervention). By monitoring the delivery of key intervention components and providing timely feedback to the intervention staff, process evaluation data can be used to help ensure fidelity of intervention delivery. Monitoring and providing feedback on the intervention on the ability to penetrate the intervention targets. In combination, process evaluation data can be used to help explain study outcomes.

Process evaluation uses both quantitative and qualitative methods, including structured observations, questionnaires, semi-structured interviews, focus groups, and logs. Interviewers take notes during the conversations, and audiotapes may be used as a local option in order to help the interviewer write up notes. The tapes are then destroyed.

Process evaluation is conducted in intervention schools only within a framework of evaluation measures for each of the study's intervention components:

- Physical education
 - o structured observation of participating PE teachers in class
 - o percent of students in the grade who participate in the study PE classes
 - o interview with physical activity coordinator about PE intervention delivery
- Nutrition/food environment
 - o structured observation of changes occurring in the total school food service environment
 - o interview with research dietitian about nutrition/food environment intervention delivery
- Behavior
 - o structured observation of FLASH sessions in-class
 - o percent of students who participate in FLASH
 - o proportion of FLASH delivered
 - o interview with health promotion coordinator about behavior intervention delivery
- Communications
 - o review of peer communicator activities
 - focus groups with peer communicators to gain student perspective on performing specific activities and ideas for new/modified activities for subsequent intervention phases
 - o number and type of materials used
 - surveys with students to record recall of events, activities, and messages (The survey takes about 5 minutes and is administered one-on-one to a convenience sample of consented students per school, e.g., recruited from classroom or homeroom volunteers as well as areas where students congregate before/during/after school such as after school programs, cafeteria or lunchroom, recess. Surveys are collected from 10% or at least 20 consented students.)
- Overall program
 - o interview with school administrator about progress of the program

In addition to on-going process evaluation, efforts are made as the study winds down to learn from various school staff and personnel their overall perspectives about the HEALTHY interventions, strengths and positive effects, weaknesses and problems, and plans for sustaining the program. A sampling of staff and personnel are invited to participate, including PE teachers, FLASH teachers, food service staff, administrators, and students. Individuals may either be interviewed, participate in

a focus group, or complete a self-report survey. Interviews would take one-half hour or less and surveys would be no more than 10 minutes. Informed consent is obtained as appropriate.

8 PERSONNEL AND TRAINING

The study involves personnel from the study field centers (study staff) and from the school environment. Training workshops are held in order to assure that the study is conducted in a standardized manner across all participating centers.

8.1 Study Staff

Study staff is divided by task into those assigned to (a) general oversight and management functions and performing study evaluation and data collection procedures and (b) implementation and delivery of the intervention. These two functions are separated in order to help ensure objectivity. Among those on the field center staff, some are assigned to each school and some have duties spread across schools.

- (a) Study staff involved in management and oversight functions include investigators, project coordinators, school coordinators, research assistants, and—as needed—interviewers and certified phlebotomists and nurses.
- (b) Study staff involved in intervention conduct and delivery are specialists with relevant educational backgrounds and experience:
 - The <u>physical activity coordinators (PAC)</u> work with the PE teaching teams at the intervention schools to assist in the implementation of the program by conducting training, developing strategic plans jointly with the PE teacher, and providing guidance.
 - The <u>PE teacher assistants</u> help the PE teacher deliver the intervention. They are hired by the field centers and at least one is assigned to each intervention school.
 - The <u>research dietitians (RD)</u> work with the school food service workers and management to monitor and assist with study changes to the nutrition/food service environment in the intervention schools, develop strategic plans jointly with the food service manager, and conduct training sessions for the school food service staff.
 - The <u>health promotion coordinators (HPC)</u> are responsible for the implementation of the behavior and communications component in the intervention schools.
 - The <u>HEALTHY assistants</u> work with the study staff to facilitate implementation of the various intervention components, especially behavior and communications activities including supervision of the student peer communicators.

8.2 School Personnel

Individuals associated with the school are engaged and recruited as follows:

- <u>Administrators</u>. District administrators or superintendents as well as school principals and vice-principals provide approval, support, and guidance.
- <u>PE Teachers</u>. The PE teachers in the intervention schools are the major delivery vehicle for the PE class intervention and meet with the PAC to establish plans and evaluate progress. All PE teachers with students in the grade currently targeted by the intervention are considered participants.
- <u>Food Service Staff</u>. The food service directors and managers in the intervention schools meet with the RD on a regular basis to plan and monitor the implementation of the environmental changes and targeted goals. Food service workers in the intervention schools attend local training sessions conducted by the RD and other study staff designed to explain the purpose of the study and the intervention. Their buy-in helps intervention components designed to

provide healthier food offerings and preparation and promote enhancements to the total school food environment.

- <u>Classroom Teachers</u>. Selected classroom teachers in the intervention schools are integrally involved in the delivery of various behavior intervention components, including FLASH and self-monitoring campaign activities and information. Efforts are made to recruit and train as many teachers as possible at each site, however availability is ultimately determined by each school. Classroom teachers complete a tracking log to document their delivery of the behavior intervention. Teachers may also be involved in the behavior self-monitoring activities and group competitions which are otherwise implemented and monitored primarily by the HPC in a classroom or group assembly context.
- Student Peer Communicators. Student peer communicators are identified in each intervention school and recruited to bolster or complement the core intervention strategies. They disseminate study messages, facilitate specified activities, and serve as 'student advisors' to study staff designing activities for subsequent intervention phases. At the start of each school year, a process involving nominations from students, school staff and faculty, and the local study staff followed by random selection of willing nominees is designed to enlist approximately 10-20 students (depending on school size, about 1-2 students for every 25-30 students in the grade) to serve as peer communicators for the remainder of the school year. A successful peer communicator is not necessary considered to be the ideal role model or student leader, but is described as usually happy, with a good sense of humor, and able to make new friends easily. They are comfortable speaking to other students individually, in small groups, and in larger group settings. They are considered trustworthy and are listened to by other students, teachers, and adults, and they are known to follow through with commitments and assignments. The list of nominated students must be approved by the school principal or designee, who collaborates with study staff on final selection of individuals. One goal in selecting individual peer communicators is to generate a group of students who as a whole represent school-wide student body characteristics.

Student peer communicators receive training by study staff to enhance skills at delivering announcements with public address systems or classroom-based presentations, interpersonal communication, and other modes of communication. Training is offered after baseline measurements are completed before or early in the 6th grade intervention and in the first 3 weeks of the school year in the 7th and 8th grades. The time and location of the training sessions are pre-determined jointly with the local school principal and staff. Additional activity-specific training is provided during the semester as needed at a time closer to the event. Specific activities and assignments are guided by three general principles:

- o The student may agree to continue or discontinue in this role at any time. Students who do not perform satisfactorily in the opinion of the study staff in joint consultation with the classroom teacher are excused from service.
- o In order not to overextend or burden the student, assigned study-related responsibilities and activities require no more than 1 hour per week on average during any phase of the intervention.
- o Assigned activities are individualized to accommodate the student's strengths and comfort level, and school resources and priorities.

Student peer communicators collaborate with the study staff to determine which activities work best within their school environment and to guide development of activities for subsequent intervention phases. The students share several messages conveying the overall goals of the project among their classmates. These messages are prepared by behavioral and communications experts on the study team and are consistent across all sites (and schools). Student peer communicator activities may include any of the following:

- o Delivering announcements using school-wide public address systems and/or classroombased presentations.
- o Distributing study-related messaging premiums associated with promotional events and activities.
- o Assisting study staff with activities related to nutrition, PE, and school-wide communications intervention components.
- o Serving as a photo-journalist or reporter for the family outreach newsletter.
- o Working with HPC and HEALTHY assistant in the homeroom or classroom setting on other study related activities.
- o Assisting the HPC, HEALTHY assistant, and other study staff with school-wide communications events.

Student peer communicators may be supplied with special branded messaging items to wear (e.g., shirt, vest) during their study activities.

• <u>Health Action Team (HAT)</u>. A Health Action Team (HAT) is identified in each intervention school to act as an advisory body, assisting study staff to adapt the intervention materials and activities to the school's specific needs. The HAT is a group of key individuals at the school who provide insight into the social and organizational climate of the school and readiness for implementing the proposed activities. Membership includes representatives from faculty, administration, staff, and parents. Such a group may already exist or need to be established. They meet with study staff 2-4 times per year.

8.3 Training

All study staff and participating school personnel must attend training sessions provided by the study and delivered centrally, regionally, or locally. Investigators, study staff, and additional experts provide instruction on various aspects of the study. Training is based on the study manual of procedures. Training focuses on function and role and may include background and rationale, study design, intervention implementation schedule and procedures, data collection and management procedures involving use of specialized data collection procedures, equipment, or technology may require that the trainee pass certification criteria established by study experts. All training sessions provide time for Q/A and discussion of barriers and their resolution. Booster sessions are planned. The need for additional training is also evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

The coordinating center holds an initial and subsequent booster training workshops for study staff in order to assure that the study is conducted in a standardized manner across all participating field centers. In addition, a single, simultaneous training workshop for all study staff maximizes uniform understanding of study goals and procedures and encourages team building. Central training sessions include preparing study staff to train local school staff.

Certain ancillary study staff—including research assistants and HEALTHY assistants—attend local or regional training sessions.

Study staff conduct training sessions for school personnel. This training is presented in more detail:

• The training program for the <u>PE teachers and teacher assistants</u> is delivered by the physical activity coordinator. The training program occurs in four phases. Phase 1 is an introduction to the study for all PE teachers in the school (1 hour orientation). In phase 2, the physical activity coordinator observes each participating PE teacher during PE classes in order to understand the PE teacher's approach to teaching, strengths and weaknesses, and local barriers to enhancement of PE classes. Phase 3 is a 6-hour workshop for the specific teachers and teacher assistants involved with the intervention focusing on the unit plans and teaching

skills. The 6-hour training not only introduces the units and lesson plans, activities, and equipment, but covers how to create a safe learning environment, successful instructional strategies to increase activity and participation, motivation and behavior issues, and promoting physical activity outside the classroom. In phase 4, the physical activity coordinator interacts with the PE teacher in and out of the classroom throughout the school day to improve managerial, motivational, and other techniques (12-15 hours). In addition to the initial training, PE teachers and teacher assistants also attend a 6-hour booster training session held in the second half of the school year and also conducted by the PAC. The 6-hour booster training sessions are designed to keep the local PE teachers and teacher assistants on task, to promote teacher and assistant skills, to bring about behavior change in methods of administering the PE program, and to address intervention delivery issues and barriers. New PE teachers who join mid-year are given one-on-one training by the PAC.

• The first stage of the nutrition intervention is <u>school food service staff</u> training conducted locally by the research dietitian.

For *intervention schools*, the initial training session takes 4-6 hours. Background information is provided about the increase in childhood obesity and the accompanying increase in incidence of type 2 diabetes in the United States. The trial is described including goals, objectives, and intervention strategies. A standard sequence of training activities is then completed and repeated for the portions of the intervention dealing with cafeteria meals and programs, a la carte, and vending machines. Within each area, training includes taste tests, if possible, to make people comfortable and to introduce examples of the food item changes being suggested. The research dietitian reviews the targeted primary outcomes, and training then focuses on customizing the intervention to address deficient areas in each school. Specific changes for food offerings are described, incremental steps to meet target goals are planned, and concerns about implementation of changes are discussed and addressed with food service managers and workers. Changes in the total school food environment are also targeted in the intervention. Methods for altering the food environment are described. Barriers to implementation are discussed along with methods for overcoming these barriers. Finally, study data collection procedures and data forms are reviewed. Twohour booster training sessions are held at the beginning of each subsequent semester to refresh and remind about the intervention, familiarize new hires, discuss goals and changes for the coming year, and address any concerns or problems.

For *control schools*, food service managers and staff attend annual 2-hour orientation sessions to introduce, familiarize, and discuss study procedures performed in control schools—namely, data collection.

Staff training is attended by food service managers and workers. Food service directors are invited to attend all staff training sessions (without compensation). Intervention school directors are also invited to meet together with study nutrition intervention staff in orientation sessions to discuss overall strategies and implementation.

- <u>Classroom teachers</u> are trained by the HPC in the scope, sequence, and methods of facilitating the FLASH and self-monitoring activities. The training time for these activities is 4 hours per year in the 1st half of the school year and an additional 1-hour booster training per year in the 2nd half of the school year.
- The HPC, HEALTHY assistant, and other study staff conduct training for <u>student peer</u> <u>communicators</u>. The initial training is conducted in 1-2 sessions lasting no longer than one hour each. Training is provided to familiarize students with the required tasks, skills, and procedures. Training is offered in the first 3 weeks of the first intervention phase each year at a time and location pre-determined jointly with the local school principal and staff. An

additional 2-4 20-minute activity-specific refresher training sessions are provided to individuals and small groups of peer communicators just before the activity takes place.

• The first meeting of the <u>Health Action Team (HAT)</u> includes a training session conducted by the study staff. The training provides an overview of diabetes prevention, the purpose of the trial, and description of the intervention components before focusing on the role and responsibilities of the HAT.

8.4 Human Research Subject Certification

As noted, participating schools operate under Federal Wide Assurance (FWA) to conduct research, and various school personnel—including classroom teachers, food service staff, PE teachers, and student peer communicators—are considered agents of the study and may assist in the delivery of selected intervention components. Given the trial design, the number of individuals involved, and the inclusion of minors, the process of certification of individuals is difficult and impractical. In addition, these individuals are not members of the target audience for whom this training was intended—i.e., they are not researchers or investigators, they become involved after the protocol has been finalized, and they have no influence, control, or responsibility for study design. Each field center seeks exemption in the IRB submission from the requirement of human subjects certification for these individuals. Study conducted training sessions emphasize privacy and confidentiality of subjects and data.

9 SAFETY REPORTING AND MONITORING

Protection of participants from risks related to the study is an overriding concern to study investigators. Each of the field centers must seek site-specific Institutional Review Board approval for the protocol. Appropriate Federal Wide Assurance of protection for all research conducted at the schools must also be obtained. A signed and dated statement that the protocol and informed consent form have been approved by the local Institutional Review Board is forwarded to the coordinating center.

This section pertains only to student participants. The study foresees no measurable risks or benefits nor the occurrence of adverse events to the schools, school personnel, or parents.

9.1 Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB)

A Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) consisting of appropriately qualified independent experts is appointed to provide review of data on patient safety and study progress. The purpose of the board is to assure independent review as to whether study participants are exposed to unreasonable risk because of study participation, and to monitor study progress and integrity. Board members are chosen by NIDDK. The DSMB convenes on a regular basis to review study progress and safety. Process evaluation data are presented and used to monitor study progress and feasibility. Interim outcome data analyses is planned following 7th grade data collection (see below).

Adverse event data are collected on study forms. Field centers report adverse events to the coordinating center in a timely fashion, including a narrative summary of the event as well as indication of the duration, perceived relationship to the study procedures, and resolution.

Serious adverse events are reported immediately to the coordinating center which notifies the NIDDK project officer, study chair, and DSMB chair. An unscheduled conference call of the DSMB is convened if needed.

Only fasting blood draws are anticipated to result in the occurrence of reportable adverse and serious adverse events related to this protocol.

9.2 Adverse Events and Serious Adverse Events

NIH guidelines indicate that an <u>adverse event</u> is any untoward medical occurrence in a study participant. We are operationally defining a <u>serious adverse event</u> (SAE) as any event that occurs during the administration of or as a result of the health screening blood draw and causes bodily or psychological damage involving on-site presence of emergency medical personnel (i.e., not just the school nurse). All deaths of consented students are reported no matter when they occur.

On-site study personnel have access to the study adverse event forms and immediately record the information. They notify the field center project coordinator and principal investigator that an event has occurred. Serious adverse event reports are transferred to the coordinating center immediately, which in turn forwards them to the study chair, NIDDK project officer, and DSMB chair. Adverse event data are transferred on a timely basis along with other study data.

9.3 Risks, Risk Management, and Procedures to Minimize Risks

9.3.1 Health Screening Physical Measurements and Forms

The risks related to <u>drawing blood</u> are as follows: brief discomfort from the venipuncture, small bruise at the area of the venipuncture, dizziness or brief fainting, and mild nausea (upset stomach). To avoid and minimize these risks, only people trained and experienced in blood drawing techniques are allowed to draw blood. Venipuncture is done following standard, sterile procedures that include: using a new sterile needle for each blood draw, wearing surgical gloves, placing all needles and items with blood in proper containers that are taken away by the investigators for proper disposal. Application of a skin-numbing cream prior to the venipuncture is available. A physician is available by phone at all times during data collection involving blood draw. The students are given a healthy breakfast following the fasting blood draw.

For students identified as having diabetes, there is minimal risk to coming to school in the fasting state and having withheld their morning medication until their blood is drawn and they are able to eat breakfast. This procedure is routinely done for children with diabetes during their health care visits, and it is anticipated that youth with diabetes and their families are familiar with the procedure. Once blood is drawn, students can go to the school nurse or office where they routinely manage their diabetes, check their blood glucose level (a routine procedure before eating breakfast), and take their medication as indicated. They can then return and eat breakfast with the remainder of the group. They are not identified to the rest of the students as having diabetes. All precautions are taken to identify and treat hypoglycemia if it develops. A source of oral glucose is available. If the student requires administration of oral glucose prior to the blood draw, blood can still be obtained since their glucose and insulin levels are not used in the main analysis. A portable glucose monitor is available if the nurse decides immediate blood sugar results are needed.

To avoid discomfort and protect privacy, the <u>anthropometric measurements</u> (height, weight, waist circumference) are made and recorded behind a screen. The student does not disrobe.

For all <u>self-administered questionnaires</u>, <u>surveys</u>, <u>and forms</u>, students are spaced apart, only the study identification number is recorded, and copies are collected directly by study personnel. Only the sexual maturation questions on the Pubertal Development Scale are anticipated to cause some psychological discomfort and embarrassment.

As a follow-up to the health screening, parents are given written results of their child's physical assessments at baseline and end of study (BMI, blood pressure, fasting glucose, lipids) with ranges and interpretation. Where considered necessary for the child's health, study staff initiate follow-up contact and recommend action as needed. Table 5 gives range categories for this population and indicates values that trigger action.

Measure		Ranges	
Height (inches)	varies		
Weight (pounds)	varies		
Body mass index percentile	underweight:	< 5%	
	acceptable:	5-84%	
	overweight:	85-94%	
	obese:	≥95%	
Blood pressure (mm Hg)		6 th grade	8 th grade
• systolic	normal:	< 120	< 125
2	elevated:	120-150	125-150
	alert:	> 150 (c)	> 150 (c)
• diastolic	normal:	< 80	< 80
	elevated:	80-95	80-95
	alert:	> 95 (c)	> 95 (c)
Fasting glucose or blood sugar (mg/dL)	normal:	< 100	
	prediabetes:	100-109 (b)	
	Î	110-125 (b)	(c)
alert (diabetes): > 125 (a)			
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	acceptable:	< 170	
	borderline:	170-199	
	abnormal:	> 200	
	alert:	> 300 (c)	
High density lipoproteins or HDL (mg/dL)	acceptable:	> 35	
	borderline:	30-35	
	abnormal:	< 30	
Low density lipoproteins or LDL (mg/dL)	acceptable:	< 110	
	borderline:	110-129	
	abnormal:	> 130	
	alert:	> 190 (c)	
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	acceptable:	< 130	
	borderline:	130-150	
	abnormal:	> 150	
	alert:	> 500 (c)	

(a) Parents are notified of test results indicating diabetes by phone within 48 hours. A study team health professional calls the parents and follows up with a letter providing more information about interpretation and recommended action.

(b) The parent letter interpretation notes that this is a high level, though not indicative of diabetes, and needs to be followed up with evaluation by a health care provider.

(c) In case of abnormal values, then a health professional on study staff calls the parents as soon as possible, usually within 5-10 days. The health care professional provides information about interpretation and recommended action, including recommending that the family should contact a physician for further testing and diagnosis. The health care professional answers any questions and provides assistance with accessing free medical care if needed.

9.3.2 Intervention Procedures

As stated above, no reportable events are anticipated due to the intervention components and procedures and their implementation and conduct, as described below.

<u>Physical Education Intervention</u>. PE class units and lessons are developed consistent with national guidelines and standards. School guidelines are applied regarding exclusion of PE requirement for students who are unable due to a chronic disease or other condition. The study lessons and units are delivered according to state mandated physical education class requirements. Potential risks from the study designed intervention are the same as in a normal PE class, ranging from breathlessness, dizziness, nausea, bumps, bruises, muscle soreness, strains, and sprains to hyper/hypoglycemia or asthma attacks. However, regular physical activity can improve cardiorespiratory fitness and reduce the risk of developing type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease mortality over the long term.

Potential risks during the physical education class are minimized by following proper sequencing of exercises. Each class begins with a warm-up to prepare student bodies for more vigorous activity. The activities progress from basic movements to the more complex. The activities are designed with short rest periods and are age and skill appropriate. In addition, the regular PE teacher, who knows the students' capabilities, is presiding over all classes. The PE teacher has discretion to limit any student's participation in which the teacher feels that there is an increased risk to the student. Any injury or complication is immediately reported and action taken dependent upon each school's specific accident/injury response plan.

<u>Nutrition/Food Environment Intervention</u>. The intervention encourages consumption of fruit, vegetables, water, and lower fat foods by increasing the selection of these items in the school food environments. The foods provided in the school are common foods that contain less fat, sugar, and energy. While there are no individual benefits other than healthier food alternatives, the potential benefits to society are great. Risks to participation (such as allergic reactions or choking) are negligible above and beyond the typical risks of eating in the school environment.

<u>Behavior Intervention and Communications</u>. The informed consent and assent forms point out that the individual should not participate in focus groups or interviews if having others learn about feelings or opinions would be embarrassing. No risks or events related to self-monitoring are anticipated. There may be a slight embarrassment if self-monitoring goals set by individual students are not met, but this is minimized by allowing students to set their own goals and monitor their own progress toward meeting them. During classroom challenges, there may be individual embarrassment if a student is perceived as not contributing toward the class goal.

No risks or events are anticipated from student participation in the brief supplemental classroom activities, which take place under normal classroom conditions. Student peer communicator selection procedures involved no risk greater than that due to normal middle school social interaction. Family outreach carries no risk. School-wide communication messages and events carry no risk.

9.4 Risks in Relation to Benefits

One benefit of this study to the parents is the opportunity to receive important health information about their children free of charge. The data collected during 'health screenings', including blood pressure, fasting glucose, and lipids, may reveal an abnormality or troublesome value of which parents, child, and school were unaware. Additionally there are potential health benefits to the parents and children from any changes to healthier lifestyle choices that might occur as a result of the study intervention.

As described above, parents are notified of the possibility of diabetes within 48 hours and other serious abnormalities by phone within 5-10 days. A follow-up letter is sent recommending that they see the child's health care provider. If the child has no regular health care provider, referral to a clinic for further diagnosis and care is made. If the family does not have insurance, the study staff provides a list of referral clinics that provide sliding scale payments.

The potential benefits for science and public health are great. Type 2 diabetes is costly at a societal as well as an individual level, and preventing this disease represents substantial savings. Thus, the benefits outweigh the risks of this study.

10 DATA PROCESSING AND MANAGEMENT

The coordinating center develops and maintains a central database integrating data from the field centers and central cores and laboratories. Qualitative data from process evaluation are accumulated, processed, maintained, and analyzed at the UNC qualitative data core.

<u>Data processing and management at the coordinating center</u>. The coordinating center can accommodate data entered and transferred in a variety of formats. Remote data entry and management systems developed and provided by the coordinating center may be (1) written in commercial data management system software installed on dedicated study computers, (2) accessed from the study secure website, or (3) collected and extracted from devices such as a tablet or palm pilot. Quality control procedures are pre-programmed depending on the technology. These include programmed skip patterns, range checks, and miscodes for multiple choice items.

Data are entered at the remote sites and transmitted to the central database at the coordinating center. Double data entry verification is used if needed to ensure accurate data entry. Data are received from sites in electronic format specific to the technologies and systems in place at each institution. The coordinating center receives data in computer-readable format from the field centers. The coordinating center merges newly received data with the accumulated central database maintained on the Biostatistics Center's server.

Database quality control performed at the coordinating center includes range checks, inter-item checks, cross-table checks, and missing, incorrect, or questionable values. The coordinating center generates queries for the field center regarding data issues and quality. Query edit reports with the necessary patient identifying information and problem values are sent to the field centers for resolution. Corrected values are entered and checked again for consistency with other items. The goals are to make quality control a continuous process, to make the turnaround time between error detection and correction as short as possible, and to document any changes made to the database.

The Biostatistics Center's data backup and security policies ensure the safety and confidentiality of the data. Backup procedures include twice weekly system backup, daily incremental backup, and off-site fireproof storage. Security procedures include logon and link password protection, remote password logon and dial-back modems, and for internet access, separate web servers which use SSL and encryption algorithms. Regularly updated virus scanning software is used routinely to check personal computers for computer viruses. University computing facilities provide support in the event of a disaster.

The coordinating center maintains confidentiality of patient data and emerging results per a confidentiality policy, which every staff member is required to sign annually.

Data processing and management at the qualitative data core. Qualitative data are forwarded to the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Data are coded and analyzed using software programs for text-based data. Members of the process evaluation team develop a codebook jointly for each of the qualitative instruments and additional codes are added as necessary to capture responses to specific questions. Once all responses are coded, text retrievals on specific codes and combination of codes for a particular topic or theme may be performed. From the retrievals, content analysis of

particular topics is followed by displaying data in a series of matrices to facilitate the identification of similarities and differences in themes by field center. This method generates a comprehensive understanding of the identified themes.

All data remain confidential. No individual results are presented. All information collected are kept safe and confidential in a locked file cabinet in the study office at University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Only the study staff see this information.

11 STATISTICAL METHODS

11.1 Sample Size

Sample size is determined for the number of schools (clusters) needed in each treatment arm [Murray 1998; Murray et al. 1994]. The following assumptions are made:

- The null hypothesis is no end-of-study difference between intervention and control schools. A specific alternative hypothesis is stated for the primary outcome: the proportion with BMI percentile ≥ 85 is 50% in the control schools and 45% in the treatment schools, i.e., a 10% risk reduction. The value for the control schools is based on results from the OGTT Feasibility Study.
- The analysis adjusts for baseline outcome value. Sample size calculation adjusts for the correlation between baseline and end-of-study values, estimated as 0.9 (derived from UNC CHIC study data).
- Two-sided significant level α =0.05.
- Power is 90%.
- The average number of 8th graders per school in the cohort at end of study is 50.
- Student dropout and withdrawal is primarily for reasons unrelated to the intervention, such as family relocation. (The annual school-wide turnover rate must be ≤ 25% to be included.) These students are removed from the cohort. However, a much smaller percent of students remain in the school but have missing outcome data (e.g., refused measurement, absent on measurement days). These students remain in the cohort and end-of-study outcome values are imputed. Based on study group experience, this percent is assumed to be no more than 5%. For purposes of sample size calculation, we assume a conservative imputation scheme based on control school data. This decreases the detectable difference.
- Intracluster correlation coefficient (ICC) adjusts for the correlation within a single school (between students) compared to across schools. ICC = 0.02 was derived from the OGTT Feasibility Study data, adjusting for gender, ethnicity, and field center.
- Based on the above assumptions, 16 schools per arm are needed. The required sample size of 16 schools per arm is adjusted upward so that there are equal numbers of schools per field center (divisible by 7) and an even number of schools per field center (half randomized to each arm). Therefore, 21 schools per arm are needed for a total of 42 schools.

11.2 Randomization

The coordinating center develops a stratified randomization scheme. The stratification factors are field center and 6th grade size in order to assign comparable within cluster (school) sample sizes across treatment arms at each field center.

11.3 Dropout and Withdrawal

Primary outcome analysis is based on application of intent-to-treat principles. That is, missing end-of-study data are imputed according to conservative and unbiased methods, and subjects (schools and students) are analyzed in the arm to which they were originally randomized.

Monitoring and follow-up of dropouts and withdrawals are described.

<u>School</u>. If a school withdraws, every effort is made to get permission to collect as much data as possible according to the original schedule. However, compromises and negotiations may be made to collect data from a subset of students, to collect partial data (highest priority given to primary outcome), or to collect data on fewer occasions (highest priority given to end of study).

A school assigned to the intervention may withdraw from all or some aspects of the intervention. Again, all efforts are made to keep data collection adherent to the protocol.

Individual school faculty and staff may also withdraw from all or some study procedures. Reasons for withdrawal are documented.

<u>Student</u>. This section applies to students in the cohort enrolled in 6th grade only.

Student turnover across the intervention is anticipated, with rates varying by school. Student dropout and withdrawal may or may not be related to the protocol events, activities, and procedures.

We assume most students drop out and withdraw primarily due to family relocation unrelated to the protocol. These students are removed from the cohort. A smaller percent of students remain in the school but have missing outcome data (e.g., refused, absent on data collection days). These students remain in the cohort and efforts are made on a one-on-one basis to accommodate data collection. Where possible, end of study data are collected from students who transfer to another school within the district.

Reasons for withdrawal or dropout are documented.

11.4 Interim Analysis and Stopping Criteria

Interim analysis or looks at the data for the purpose of evaluating whether a trial should be continued or terminated prematurely are common features of clinical trials. Such procedures are motivated by the best interests of the participants and by desire to conserve resources, whether the trial is stopped early for futility, for safety, or for significant evidence in favor of the primary outcome. The procedures and criteria for early stopping are established as part of study design and development. The DSMB is charged with monitoring the progress of the research and advising NIDDK on whether to continue or not. NIDDK makes any final decision.

The Prevention Study Group has been charged with extending the methodology of interim or early stopping criteria developed and applied to clinical trials to the primary prevention or cluster design trial. There are no plans to stop the trial prematurely due to extremely significant positive findings. The course or trend in intervention effect is a critical finding, and it would be important to know if the greatest impact on outcome occurs early and then tapers or levels off or if there is a continuous improvement. Criteria are presented for stopping the trial in case of futility or harm.

The stopping criteria are:

- 1. <u>Failure to recruit an adequate number of schools</u>. If the study does not recruit an adequate number of schools, then the trial will stop. This is determined prior to student recruitment.
- 2. <u>Failure to recruit an adequate number of students</u>. If the study does not recruit an adequate number of students in the 6th grade, then the trial will stop. This is determined at the end of the baseline recruitment period across all schools.

This criterion refers to having adequate numbers of students in the end of study cohort. Sample size calculations and power assume an average of 50 students per school. An estimated annual attrition rate is available for each school in order to determine eligibility. Randomization of school to intervention or control is stratified by class size within each field center. At the end of 6^{th} grade student recruitment, the estimated attrition rate "r" is used to determine 8^{th} grade cohort size per school:

 $(\# 6^{th} \text{ graders})(1-r)^3 = \# 8^{th} \text{ graders}$

The average of the 42 schools must be \geq 50.

3. <u>Failure to achieve BMI primary outcome in correct direction</u>. If the intervention schools are doing significantly worse than the control schools in percent of students in the cohort $\ge 85^{\text{th}}$ percentile BMI at 7th grade data collection, then the trial will stop. This is determined partway into the 2nd half of 7th grade at the end of interim data collection.

Alpha spending function methodology appropriate to cluster design trials is applied to protect the significance level at 0.05 overall. We conduct a one-sided test of:

- H₀: percent in intervention schools with BMI ≥ 85th percentile ≤ percent in control schools, versus
- H_A: percent in intervention schools > percent in control schools.

In case of premature termination, all efforts are made to conduct final blood draw and collect primary outcome and other data.

4. <u>Failure to adequately deliver the intervention as planned</u>. Data documenting the delivery and implementation of the intervention by study staff are recorded during the 1st semester of 7th grade. Study-wide delivery efforts and progress must be deemed adequate in order to continue the study.

11.5 Qualitative Data Methods and Analysis

Qualitative data are collected during the trial. The data are used to determine the extent to which interventions are implemented as planned and intended. Results are fed back to intervention staff in a timely way so that adjustments can be made during the trial. Data are collected by structured observations, semi-structured interviews, and focus groups. Data are coded and analyzed using software specifically designed for qualitative data.

11.6 Quantitative Data Methods and Analysis

Quantitative data are collected at baseline, during the intervention, and at end of study. These data are used to test the primary outcome and analyze secondary aims and objectives. Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, percentiles), frequencies, tabulations, plots, graphics, and effect sizes are produced. Cluster level as well as individual level characteristics are presented. Comparisons are made between those students recruited in 6th grade still present in the cohort in 8th grade versus those who are no longer in the cohort in 8th grade, and between those students in the 8th grade cohort versus students newly enrolled in 8th grade for end of study data collection.

Methods of analysis account for the structure of the cluster design trial, with measures of variance both between cluster (school) and within cluster (between students within the same school) [Murray 1998; Donner and Klar 2000]. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals are obtained from generalized estimating equation (GEE) models to analyze differences between intervention and control schools. GEE provides a method for analyzing data when the responses are correlated. The responses can be continuous, discrete, or count data. The clustering of observations within schools is taken into account by fitting a random effects parameter for school. Correlation between all interschool observations is taken into account by the selection of covariance structure. GEE models allow for fixed (e.g., gender, race) and time-varying covariates (e.g., Tanner stage, waist), as well as adjustment for individual-level and cluster-level covariates (e.g., baseline values). Interaction terms may be included. These methods apply to analysis of point-in-time as well as longitudinal measures from a cross-sectional or cohort sample, respectively.

The primary analysis is performed on the cohort enrolled in 6th grade and measured at end of study in 8th grade. Students in the cohort provide both consent and assent and data to determine the primary outcome, BMI percentile, i.e., valid measurements of height and weight, gender, and age. Students diagnosed with diabetes at baseline are not eligible for the cohort. Intent-to-treat principles are applied as described above. Baseline value is included in the model as a covariate. Both unweighted and weighted methods of analysis are applied to evaluate consistency and interpretation of findings. A secondary cross-sectional analysis of the outcome is performed on the entire 8th grade sample (cohort plus end of study recruits).

12 STUDY ADMINISTRATION

12.1 Organization

The major organizational components and their responsibilities are described:

- The *Prevention Study Group* is composed of investigators and study staff from the seven prevention field centers, the coordinating center, the NIDDK project office, the study chair, and designated experts. The committee is responsible for the design and conduct of the primary prevention study and its pilot components.
- The *Prevention Steering Committee* is the voting body of the Prevention Protocol Committee. Members are the principal investigators of the 7 prevention field centers and the coordinating center, the NIDDK project office, the STOPP-T2D Study chair, and designated experts.
- The *NIDDK project office* participates in all decision-making activities and selects and oversees the activities of the Data Safety Monitoring Board.
- The *field centers* are located at Baylor College of Medicine, Oregon Health & Science University, Temple University, University of California at Irvine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, University of Pittsburgh, and University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio. They are responsible for recruiting schools and study participants and implementing the protocol.
- The *coordinating center* is located at the George Washington University Biostatistics Center with responsibility for coordinating all aspects of the study, including production and distribution of materials and documents, development and conduct of study staff training sessions, development and administration of the data management system, maintenance of the central database, data analysis, and report of results in collaboration with the other investigators.
- The *Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB)* is composed of outside experts in the design and conduct of clinical and cluster design trials, in pediatrics, in behavior modification, and in type 2 diabetes. The board is responsible for reviewing the study documents, monitoring study progress, and monitoring participant safety.
- *Working committees* are responsible for designing and developing the intervention, administering the intervention, overseeing protocol implementation and safety, and performing collaborative activities. Committee membership is representative of the study group.
- *Central labs and resources* include the Central Blood Laboratory (Northwest Research Lipid Laboratory, Seattle WA), Communications Core (Planit, Baltimore MD), and Qualitative Data Core (University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill NC).

12.2 Study Website

The coordinating center maintains the study website, which is a secure site requiring a user ID and password combination for access. The web server utilizes the Secure Socket Layer (SSL) protocol which encrypts all traffic to and from the server. Investigators, coordinators, consultants, and other study staff who would benefit from access to the information on the website are each given a unique user ID and password which identifies the user to the web server and can be used to restrict access to particular web pages if desired.

The website contains access to study documents and information such as the protocol, manual of procedures, forms, materials, workbooks, study calendar, directory, meeting and conference call information, links to other sites, tracking reports, policies, minutes and agendas, publications status and preparation. The website is also used to enter, download, and transfer study data.

12.3 Policies

The study group has adopted three policies.

12.3.1 Conflict of Interest

The Prevention Steering Committee investigators have adopted a conflict of interest policy similar to that used by other NIDDK collaborative groups. On an annual basis or whenever there is a significant change in status, study collaborators are required to disclose any financial or related interest that could present an actual conflict of interest or be perceived to present a conflict of interest. Disclosure is required to protect each individual's reputation and career from potentially embarrassing or harmful allegations of inappropriate behavior, and to protect the integrity of study research. Forms are kept on file at the coordinating center.

The Ethics Committee determines (1) if the disclosed interests could directly and significantly affect the performance of study responsibilities and (2) the management, reduction, or elimination of the conflict. In addition to complying with the conflict of interest policies, collaborators must certify to the Ethics Committee that they have complied with all of their local and institutional requirements regarding conflict of interest and disclosure. This is accomplished by supplying the coordinating center with copies of the local IRB letter of approval and stamped informed consent form(s).

12.3.2 Publications and Presentations

The Prevention Steering Committee investigators have adopted a policy similar to those used by other NIDDK collaborative groups. The policy is administered by the Prevention Publications and Presentations Committee with approval from the Prevention Steering Committee. The policy includes guidelines for authorship, submission and review of proposed publications and presentations, ownership of the data, and setting priorities for coordinating center statisticians.

12.3.3 Ancillary Studies

According to the Prevention Study Group Ancillary Studies Policy, an ancillary study is defined as research using study participants (including their laboratory specimens or tests) to collect or derive supplemental data for purposes above and beyond those set forth in the protocol. Ancillary studies are evaluated with careful consideration of their potential impact on the objectives and performance of the primary prevention trial. Investigators and participants are entitled to prior assurance that all ancillary studies are of high scientific merit and that no ancillary study will:

- cause a deviation from the protocol,
- confound interpretation of study results,

- adversely affect participant cooperation,
- jeopardize the public image of the study,
- create a significant diversion of resources at the field centers, at the coordinating center, or at any other level,
- in any way negatively influence the cooperative spirit of the collaborating investigators, or
- otherwise compromise the scientific integrity of the study.

The policy spells out steps to propose, review, and approve ancillary studies. No field center is required to participate in an ancillary study.

13 LITERATURE CITED

Adrian MJ, Cooper JM. *Biomechanics of Human Movement*, 2nd ed, Indianapolis: Benchmark Press, 1995.

- Allison DB, Fontaine KR, Manson JE, Stevens J, VanItallie TB. Annual deaths attributable to obesity in the United States. *JAMA* 1999; 282:1530-1538.
- Allison DB, Zannolli R, Narayan KM. The direct health care costs of obesity in the United States. *Am J Public Health* 1999; 89:1194-1199.
- Amatruda JM, Richeson JF, Welle SL, Brodows RG, Lockwood DH. The safety and efficacy of a controlled low-energy ('very-low-calorie') diet in the treatment of non-insulin-dependent diabetes and obesity. Arch Intern Med 1988; 148:873–877.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Physical fitness and activity in schools. *Pediatrics* 2000; 105(5):1156.
- American Diabetes Association. Type 2 diabetes in children and adolescents. *Diabetes Care* 2000; 23:381-389.
- American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2002. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26:917-932.
- Andersen RE, Crespo CJ, Bartlett SJ, Cheskin LJ, Pratt M. Relationship of physical activity and television watching with body weight and level of fatness among children: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA 1998; 279:938-942.
- Backman DR, Haddad EH, Lee JW, Johnston PK, Hodgkin GE. Psychosocial predictors of healthful dietary behavior in adolescents. *J Nutr Educ Behav* 2002; 34(4):184-192.
- Bandura A. Social Learning Theory, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs NJ, 1977.
- Baquet G, Bertoin S, Gerbeaux M, Van Praagh E. High-intensity aerobic training during a 10-week one-hour physical education cycle: effects on physical fitness of adolescents aged 11 to16. Int J Sports Med 2001; 22(4):295-300.
- Barnett E, Casper M. A definition of social environment. Am J Public Health 2001; 91(3):465.
- Berkey CS, Rockett HRH, Field AE, Gillman MW, Frazier AL, Camargo CA, Colditz GA. Activity, dietary intake, and weight changes in a longitudinal study of preadolescent and adolescent boys and girls. Pediatrics 2000; 105:1-9.
- Berkey CS, Rockett HRH, Field AE, Gillman MW, Colditz GA. Sugar-added beverages and adolescent weight change. *Obesity Research* 2004; 12:778-788.
- Block G, Hartman AM, Dresser CM, et al. A data-based approach to diet questionnaire design and testing. *Am J Epidemiol* 1986; 124:453-69.
- Block G, Woods M, Potosky A, et al. Validation of a self-administered diet history questionnaire using multiple diet records. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1990; 43:1327-35.
- Block G, Thompson FE, Hartman AM, et al. Comparison of two dietary questionnaires validated against multiple dietary records collected during a 1-year period. J Am Diet Assoc 1992; 92:686-93.
- Block G, Coyle LM, Hartman AM, Scoppa SM. Revision of dietary analysis software for the health habits and history questionnaire. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 139:1190-6.

- Block G, DiSogra C. *WIC Dietary Assessment Validation Study. Final Report*, Alexandria, VA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service, 1995.
- Bonen A, Tan MH, Clune P, Kirby RL. Effects of exercise on insulin binding to human muscle. *Am J Physiol* 1985; 248:E403-E408.
- Boreham CA, Paliczka VJ, Nichols AK. A comparison of the PWC170 and 20-MST tests of aerobic fitness in adolescent schoolchildren. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness* 1990; 30:19-23.
- Botvin GJ, Baker E, Filazzola AD, Botvin EM. A cognitive-behavioral approach to substance abuse prevention: one-year follow-up. *Addict Behav* 1990; 15(1):47-63.
- Boynton-Jarrett R, Thomas TN, Peterson KE, Wiecha J, Sobol AM, Gortmaker SL. Impact of television viewing patterns on fruit and vegetable consumption among adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2003; 112:1321-1326.
- BrooksGunn J, Warren MP. The psychological significance of secondary sexual characteristics in nine- to eleven-year-old girls. *Child Development* 1988; 59:1061-1069.
- Burchfiel CM, Sharp DS, Curb JD, Rodriguez BL, Hwang L, Marcus EB, Yano K. Physical activity and incidence of diabetes: the Honolulu Heart Program. *Am J Epidemiol* 1995; 141:360-368.
- Burke V, Milligan RA, Thompson C, et al. A controlled trial of health promotion programs in 11year-olds using physical activity "enrichment" for higher risk children. J Pediatr 1998; 132:840-848.
- Caballero B, Clay T, Davis SM, et al. Pathways: a school-based, randomized controlled trial for the prevention of obesity in American Indian schoolchildren. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 78(5):1030-1038.
- Cavadini, C, Siega-Riz, AM, Popkin BM. US adolescents food intake trends from 1965-1996: the road to chronic diseases. *Archives Diseases of Childhood* 2000; 83:18-24.
- Chase MA. Children's self-efficacy, motivational intentions, and attributions in physical education and sport. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport* 2001; 72(1):47-54.
- Consensus Development Conference on Diet and Exercise in Non-Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus: National Institutes of Health. *Diabetes Care* 1987; 10:639–644.
- Cook VV, Hurley JS. Prevention of type 2 diabetes in childhood. Clin Pediatr 1998; 37:123-130.
- Cullen KW, Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Hebert D, deMoor C, Hearn MD, Resnicow K. Influence of school organizational characteristics on the outcomes of a school health promotion program. *J Sch Health* 1999; 69(9):376-80.
- Cullen KW, Bartholomew LK, Ross M. Validity of a one-day food recognition form to measure fruit and vegetable intake in 9-12 year old girls. *J Amer Diet Assoc* 1997; 97s:A62.
- Cusatis DC, Shannon BM. Influences on adolescent eating behavior. *J Adolesc Health* 1996; 18(1):27-34.
- Dean HJ, Mundy RL, Moffatt M. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Indian children in Manitoba. *CMAJ* 1992;147(1):52-7.
- Devaney B, Gordon A, Burghardt J. The School Nutrition Dietary Assessment Study: Dietary Intakes of Program Participants and Nonparticipants. Princeton, NJ, Mathematica Policy Research Inc, 1993.
- Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *New Engl J Med* 2002; 346:393-403.
- Dietz WF. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1994; 59:955-59.
- Dietz WH. Gortmaker SL. Preventing obesity in children and adolescents. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2001; 22:337-53.
- Domel SB, Baranowski T, Davis HC, Thompson WO, Leonard SB, Riley P, Baranowski J. A measure of outcome expectations for fruit and vegetable consumption among fourth and fifth grade children: reliability and validity. *Health Education Research, Theory and Practice* 1995; 10(1):65-72.

- Donnelly JE, Jacobsen DJ, Whately JE, et al. Nutrition and Physical Activity Program to Attentuate Obesity and Promote Physical and Metabolic Fitness in Elementary School Children. *Obes Res* 1996; 4(3):229-243.
- Donner A, Klar N. Design and Analysis of Cluster Randomization Trials in Health Research, Arnold Publishers, London, 2000.
- Dowse GK, Zimmet PZ, Gareeboo H, et al. Abdominal obesity and physical inactivity as risk factors for NIDDM and impaired glucose tolerance in Indian, Creole, and Chinese Mauritians. *Diabetes Care* 1991; 14:271-282.
- Ebeling P, Bourey R, Koranyi L, et al. Mechanism of enhanced insulin sensitivity in athletes: increased blood flow, muscle glucose transport protein (GLUT-4) concentration, and glycogen synthase activity. *J Clin Invest* 1993; 92:1623-1631.
- Eliakim A, Barstow TJ, Brasel JA, et al. Effect of exercise training on energy expenditure, muscle volume, and maximal oxygen uptake in female adolescents. *J Pediatr* 1996; 129:537-43.
- Eliakim A, Scheett T, Allmendinger N, et al. Training, muscle volume, and energy expenditure in nonobese American girls. *J Appl Physiol* 2001; 90:35-44.
- Elliot DL, Goldberg L, Moe EL, DeFrancesco CA, Durham MB, Hix-Small H. Preventing substance use and disordered eating: initial outcomes of the ATHENA (Athletes Targeting Healthy Exercise and Nutrition Alternatives) Program. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004; 158:1043-1051.
- Epstein LH, Paluch RA, Kilanowski CK, Raynor HA. The effect of reinforcement or stimulus control to reduce sedentary behavior in the treatment of pediatric obesity. *Health Psychology* 2004; 23:371-80.
- Eriksson J, Tuominen J, Valle T, Sundberg S, et al. Aerobic endurance exercise or circuit-type resistance training for individuals with impaired glucose tolerance? *Horm Metab Res* 1996; 30:37-41.
- Eriksson KF, Lindgarde F. Prevention of type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus by diet and physical exercise: the 6-year Malmo feasibility study. *Diabetologia* 1991; 34:891-898.
- Etgen GJ, Jensen J, Wilson CM, et al. Exercise training reverses insulin resistance in muscle by enhanced recruitment of GLUT-4 to the cell surface. *Am J Physiol* 1997; 272:E864-E869.
- Franz MJ, Bantle JP, Beebe CA, Brunzell JD, Chiasson JL, Garg A, Holzmeister LA, Hoogwerf B, Mayer-Davis E, Mooradian AD, Purnell JQ, Wheeler M. Evidence based nutrition principles and recommendations for the treatment and prevention of diabetes and related complications. *Diabetes Care* 2002; 25:148–198.
- Freemark M. Pharmacologic approaches to the prevention of type 2 diabetes in high risk pediatric patients. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2003; 88:3-13.
- Gabbard CP. Lifelong Motor Development, 4th ed., San Francisco: Pearson/Benjamin Cummings, 2004.
- Galbo H, Holst JJ, Christensen NJ. Glucagon and plasma catecholamine responses to graded and prolonged exercise in man. *J Appl Physiol* 1975; 38:70-76.
- Genuth S, Alberti KG, Bennett P, Buse J, De Fronzo R, Kahn R, Kitzmiller J, Knowler WC, Lebovitz H, Lernmark A, Nathan D, Palmer J, Rizza R, Saudek C, Shaw J, Steffes M, Stern M, Tuomilehto J, Zimmet P. Follow-up report on the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26:3160-3167.
- Gillis LJ, Kennedy LC, Gills AM, Bar-Or O. Relationship between juvenile obesity, dietary energy and fat intake and physical activity. *International Journal of Obesity* 2002; 26:458-463.
- Gilmer MJ, Speck BJ, Bradley CB, et al. The Youth Health Survey: reliability and validity for assessing cardiovascular health habits in adolescents. *J School Health* 1996; 66:106-111.
- Glanz K, Lankenau B, Foerster S, Temple S, Mullis R, Schmid T. Environmental and policy approaches to cardiovascular disease prevention through nutrition: opportunities for state and local action. *Health Educ Q* 1995; 22(4):512-527.
- Gold MR, Siegel JE, Russel LB, Weinstein MC. *Cost-effectiveness in Health and Medicine*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1996.

- Goldberg L, Elliot DL, Clarke G, MacKinnon DP, Moe E, et al. Effects of a multi-dimensional anabolic steroid prevention intervention: the ATLAS (Adolescents Training and Learning to Avoid Steroids) Program. *JAMA* 1996(a); 276:1555-1562.
- Goldberg L, Elliot DL, Clarke G, et al. The adolescents training and learning to avoid steroids (ATLAS) prevention program: background and results of a model intervention. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 1996(b); 150:713-721.
- Goldberg L, MacKinnon D, Elliot DL, Moe EL, et al. The Adolescents Training and Learning to Avoid Steroids Program: preventing drug use and promoting health behaviors. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2000; 154:332-338.
- Goodyear LJ, King PA, Hirshman M, et al. Contractile activity increases plasma membrane glucose transporters in the absence of insulin. *Am J Physiol* 1990; E667-E672.
- Gortmaker SL, Peterson K, Wiecha J, et al. Reducing obesity via a school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth: Planet Health. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 1999; 153:409-418.
- Gottfredson DC, Wilson DB. Characteristics of effective school-based substance abuse prevention. *Prev Sci* 2003; 4(1):27-38.
- Grunbaum JA, Kann L, Kinchen SA, Williams B, Ross JG, Lowry R, Kolbe L. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance, United States, 2001, Surveillance Summaries, June 28, 2002. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5104a1.htm</u>
- Guerra S, Rivero JC, Costa R, et al. Relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, body composition and blood pressure in school children. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness* 2002; 42:207-213.
- Gulve EA, Spina RJ. Effect of 7-10 days of cycle ergometer exercise on skeletal muscle GLUT- 4 protein content. *J Appl Physiol* 1995; 79(5):1562-6.
- Gutin B, Cucuzzo N, Islam S, Smith C, Stachura ME. Physical training, lifestyle education, and coronary risk factors in obese girls. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 1996; 28(1):19-23.
- Gutin B, Islam S, Treiber F, Smith C, et al. Fasting insulin concentration is related to cardiovascular reactivity to exercise in children. *Pediatr* 1995; 96:1123-1125.
- Gyntelberg F, Rennie MJ, Hickson RC, Holloszy JO. Effect of training on the response of plasma glucagon to exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 1977; 43(2):302-305.
- Harlan WR. Epidemiology of childhood obesity: a national perspective. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1993; 699:1-5.
- Harnack L, Snyder P, Story M, Holliday R, Lytle L, Neumark-Sztainer D. Availability of a la carte food items in junior and senior high schools: a needs assessment. J Am Diet Assoc 2000; 100:701-703.
- Harrell JS, McMurray RG, Baggett CD, Pennell ML, Pearce PF, Bangdiwala, SI. Energy costs of physical activities in children and adolescents. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 2005; 37(2):329-336.
- Harrell JS, McMurray RG, Gansky SA, et al. A public health vs. a risk-based intervention to improve cardiovascular health in elementary school children: the Cardiovascular Health in Children Study. *Am J Public Health* 1999; 89:1529-1535.
- Harrington KF, Binkley D, Reynolds KD, Duvall RC, Copeland JR, Franklin F, Raczynski J. Recruitment issues in school-based research: lessons learned from the High 5 Alabama Project. *Journal of School Health* 1997; 67:415-21.
- Hartley LH, Mason JW, Hogan RP, Jones LG, Kotchen TA, Mougey EH, Wherry FE, Pennington LL, Ricketts PT. Multiple hormonal responses to graded exercise in relation to physical training. *J Appl Physiol* 1972; 33(5):602-606.
- Henriksson J. Influence of exercise on insulin sensitivity. J Cardiovasc Risk 1995; 2:303-309.
- Henry RR, Wiest-Kent TA, Scheaffer L, Kolterman OG, Olefsky JM. Metabolic consequences of very-low-calorie diet therapy in obese non-insulin-dependent diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 1986; 35:155–164.

- Hensrud DD. Dietary treatment and longterm weight loss and maintenance in type 2 diabetes. *Obes Res* 2001; 9(Suppl. 4):348S–353S.
- Hickson RC, Hagberg JM, Conlee RK, et al. Effect of training on hormonal responses to exercise in competitive swimmers. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1979; 41:211-219.
- Holcomb JD, Lira J, Kingery PM, et al. Evaluation of Jump Into Action: a program to reduce the risk of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus in school children on the Texas-Mexico border. *J Sch Health* 1998; 68:282-288.
- Holloszy JO, Narahara HT. Nitrate ions: potentiation of increased permeability to sugar associated with muscle contraction. *Science* 1967; 155(762):573-575.
- Houmard JA, Egan PC, Neufer PD, et al. Elevated skeletal muscle glucose transporter levels in exercise-trained middle-aged men. *Am J Physiol* 1991; 261:E437-E443.
- Hughes TA, Gwynne JT, Switzer BR, Herbst C, White G. Effects of caloric restriction and weight loss on glycemic control, insulin release and resistance, and atherosclerotic risk in obese patients with type II diabetes mellitus. *Am J Med* 1984; 77:7–17.
- Jacobson MF. Liquid candy: how soft drinks are harming Americans' health. Website address <u>www.cspinet.org/sodapop/liquid_candy.htm</u>, 1998.
- Jahns L, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. The increasing prevalence of snacking among U.S. children and adolescents from 1977 to 1996. *J Pediatrics* 2001; 138:493-8.
- James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2004; 328(7450):1237 (erratum, *BMJ* 2004 May 22; 328(7450):1236).
- Johnson, CC, Donglin L, Epping J, Lytle LA, Cribb PW, Williston BJ, Yang M. A transactional model of social support, self-efficacy, and physical activity in children in the Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health. *Journal of Health Education* 2000; 31(1): 2-9.
- Kahle EB, Zipf WB, Lamb DR et al. Association between mild, routine exercise and improved insulin dynamics and glucose control in obese adolescents. *Int J Sports Med* 1996; 17:1-6.
- Kang H-S, Gutin B, Barbeau P, et al. Physical training improves insulin resistance syndrome in obese adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2002; 34:1920-1927.
- Kassem NO, Lee JW. Understanding soft drink consumption among male adolescents using the theory of planned behavior. *J Behav Med* 2004; 27(3):273-296.
- Keenan DP, Achterberg C, Kris-Etherton PM, et al. Use of qualitative and quantitative methods to define behavioral fat-reduction strategies and their relationship to dietary fat reduction in the Patterns of Dietary Change Study. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1996; 96:1245-1250.
- King AC, Jeffery RW, Fridinger F, Dusenbury L, Provence S, Hedlund SA, Spangler K. Environmental and policy approaches to cardiovascular disease prevention through physical activity: issues and opportunities. *Health Educ Q* 1995; 22(4):499-511.
- Klissouras V, Tokmakidis S. Evaluation of physical fitness of schoolchildren: the Eurofit test. In Howald H (ed), *Proceedings of the XVth Meeting of the International Council for Physical Fitness*, International Council for Physical Fitness Research, 1982.
- Kristal AR, Shattuck AL, Henry HJ. Patterns of dietary behavior associated with selecting diets low in fat: reliability and validity of a behavioral approach to dietary assessment. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1990; 90:214-220.
- Kuller LH, Meilahn E, Bunker C, Young L, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Matthews K. Development of risk factors for cardiovascular disease among women from adolescence to older ages. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences* 1995; 310(Suppl 1):S91-S100.
- Larsen JJS, Dela F, Madsbad S, Galbo H. The effect of intense exercise on postprandial glucose homeostasis in Type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologica* 1999; 42:1282-1292.
- Lavoie C, Ducros F, Bourque J, Langelier H, Chiasson JL. Glucose metabolism during exercise in man: the role of insulin in the regulation of glucose utilization. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1997; 75(1):36-43.
- Lazar M. How obesity causes diabetes: not a tall tale. Science 2005; 307:373-375.

- LeBlanc J, Nadeau A, Richard D, Tremblay A. Studies on the sparing effect of exercise on insulin requirements in human subjects. *Metabolism* 1981; 30:1119-1124.
- LeBlanc J, Nadeau A, Richard D, Tremblay A. Variations in plasma glucose, insulin, growth hormone and catecholamines in response to insulin in trained and non-trained subjects. *Metabolism* 1983; 31:453-456.
- Leger L, Lambert J. A maximal 20 meters shuttle run test to predict VO2max. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1982; 49:1-12.
- Leger L, Mercier, D, Gadoury C, Lambert J. The multistage 20 meter shuttle run test for aerobic fitness. *J Sports Sci* 1988; 6(2):93-101.
- Levine AA. Excessive fruit juice consumption: how can something that causes failure to thrive be associated with obesity? *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 1997; 25(5):554-555.
- Levkoff S, Sanchez H. Lessons learned about minority recruitment and retention from the Centers on Minority Aging and Health Promotion. *Gerontologist* 2003; 43(1):18-26.
- Lowe CF, Horne PJ, Tapper K, Bowdery M, Egerton C. Effects of a peer modeling and rewardsbased intervention to increase fruit and vegetable consumption in children. *Euorpean Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2004; 58:510-522.
- Ludwig DS, Peterson KE, Gortmaker SL. Relation between consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and childhood obesity. *Lancet* 2001; 357:505-8.
- Luepker RV, Perry CL, McKinlay SM, et al. Outcomes of a field trial to improve children's dietary patterns and physical activity: the Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health (CATCH). *JAMA* 1996; 275:768-776.
- Magarey AM, Daniels LA, Boulton TJC, Cockington RA. Does fat intake predict adiposity in healthy children and adolescents aged 2-15 y? A longitudinal analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2001; 55:471-81.
- Mahoney C. 20-MST and PWC-170 validity in non-Caucasian children in UK. *Br J Sp Med* 1992; 26:45-47.
- Marcus AC, Wheeler RC, Cullen JW, Crane LA. Quasi-experimental evaluation of the Los Angeles Know Your Body program: knowledge, beliefs, and self-reported behaviors. *Prev Med* 1987; 16:803-815.
- Marstan M, Stunkard A. Caloric intake and expenditure of obese boys. *Journal of Pediatrics* 1980; 96:187-93.
- Mayer-Davis EJ, D'Agostino R, Karter AJ, Haffner SM, et al. Intensity and amount of physical activity in relation to insulin sensitivity. *J Am Med Assoc* 1998; 279:669-674.
- McMurray RG, Bauman M, Harrell JS, et al. Effects of improvement in aerobic power on resting insulin and glucose concentrations in children. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2000; 81:132-139.
- McMurray RG, Hackney AC. Endocrine responses to exercise and training. In Garrett WE, Kirkendall DT (eds) *Exercise and Sport Science*. Lippencott, Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, 2000, 135-159.
- McMurray RG, Harrell JS, Bangdiwala SI, et al. A school-based intervention can reduce body fat and blood pressure in young adolescents. *J Adol Health* 2002; 31:125-132.
- McMurray RG, Ring KB, Treuth MS, et al. Comparison of two approaches to structured physical activity surveys for adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004; 36:
- Mellanby AR, Rees JB, Tripp JH. Peer-led and adult-led school health education: a critical review of available comparative research. *Health Educ Res* 2000; 15(5):533-545.
- Mikines KJ, Sonne B, Farrell PA, et al. Effect of physical exercise on sensitivity and responsiveness to insulin in humans. *Am J Physiol* 1988; 254:E248-E259.
- Miller WJ, Sherman WM, Ivy JL. Effect of strength training on glucose tolerance and post-glucose insulin response. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1984; 16(6):539-43.
- Mossberg H. 40-year follow-up of overweight children. Lancet 1989; 2(8661):491-493.
- Mrdjenovic G, Levitsky DA. Nutritional and energetic consequences of sweetened drink consumption in 6- to 13-year-old children. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2003; 142:604-610.

- Murray DM. Design and Analysis of Group-Randomized Trials. Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- Murray DM, Rooney BL, Hannan PJ, Peterson AV, Ary DV, Biglan A, Botvin GJ, Evans RI, Flay BR, Futterman R, Getz JG, Marek, PM, Orlandi M, Pentz MA, Perry CL, Schinke SP. Intraclass correlation among common measures of adolescent smoking: estimates, correlates, and applications in smoking prevention studies. *Amer J Epid* 1994; 140(11):1038-1050,
- Must A, Jacques PF, Dallal, GE, Bajema CJ, Dietz WH. Long-term morbidity and mortality of overweight adolescents: a follow-up of the Harvard Growth Study of 1922 to 1935. *NEJM* 1992; 327(19):1350-1355.
- National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Guidelines for school and community programs to promote lifelong physical activity among young people. *Journal of School Health* 1997; 67(6):202-219.
- Nielsen SJ, Popkin BM. Patterns and trends in food portion sizes, 1977-98. JAMA 2003:289:450-453.
- Nijpels G. Determinants for the progression from impaired glucose tolerance to non- insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Clin Invest* 1998; 28(Suppl 2):8-13.
- Obarzanek E, Schreiber GB, Crawford PB, Goldman SR, Barrier PM, Frederick MM, Lakatos E. Energy intake and physical activity in relation to indexes of body fat: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1994; 60:15-22.
- Owens S, Gutin B, Allison J, Riggs S, Ferguson M, Litaker M, Thompson W. Effect of physical training on total and visceral fat in obese children. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1999; 31:143-148.
- Pan XR, Li GW, Hu YH, Wang JX, Yang WY, An ZX, Hu ZX, Lin J, Xiao JZ, Cao HB, Liu PA, Jiang XG, Jiang YY, Wang JP, Zheng H, Zhang H, Bennett PH, Howard BV. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance. The Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care* 1997; 20(4):537-44.
- Paradis G, O'Loughlin J, Elliott M, Masson P, Renaud L, Sacks-Silver G, Lampron G. Coeur en sante St-Henri, a heart health promotion programme in a low income, low education neighbourhood in Montreal, Canada: theoretical model and early field experience. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1995; 49(5):503-12.
- Patrick K, Norman GJ, Calfas KJ, Sallis JF, Zabinski MF, Rupp J, Cella J. Diet, physical activity, and sedentary behaviors as risk factors for overweight in adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*. 2004; 158:385-390.
- Petersen AC, Crockett L, Richards M, Boxer A. A self-report measure of pubertal status: reliability, validity, and initial norms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 1988; 17(2):117-133.
- Petersen AC, TobinRichards M, Boxer A. Puberty: its measurement and its meaning. *Journal of Early Adolescence* 1983; 3:47-62.
- Pinhas-Hamiel O, Dolan LM, Daniels SR, Standiford D, Khoury PR, Zeitler P. Increased incidence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among adolescents. *J Pediatr* 1996; 128(5 Pt 1):608-615.
- Pirouznia M. The correlation between nutrition knowledge and eating behavior in an American school: the role of ethnicity. *Nutr Health* 2000; 14(2):89-107.
- Pirouznia M. The association between nutrition knowledge and eating behavior in male and female adolescents in the US. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* 2001; 52(2):127-132.
- Ploug T, Stallknecht BM, Pedersen O, et al. Effect of endurance training on glucose transport capacity and glucose transporter expression in rat skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol* 1990; 259:E778-E786.
- Popkin BM, Siega-Riz AM, Haines PS, Jahns L. Where's the fat: trends in US diets 1965-1996. *Prev Med* 2001; 32(3):245-254.

- Potvin L, Cargo M, McComber AM, Delormier T, Macaulay AC. Implementing participatory intervention and research in communities: lessons from the Kahnawake Schools Diabetes Prevention Project in Canada. *Social Science & Medicine* 2003; 56(6):1295-305,
- Resnicow K. School-based obesity prevention: population vs high-risk interventions. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1993; 699:154-166.
- Resnicow K, Robinson TN. School-based Cardiovascular Disease Prevention Studies: review and Synthesis. *Annals of Epidemiology* 1997; 7(S7):14-31.
- Rice B, Janssen I, Hudson R, Ross R. Effects of aerobic or resistance exercise and/or diet on glucose tolerance and plasma insulin levels in obese men. *Diabetes Care* 1999; 22:684-691.
- Richter K P, Harris KJ, Paine-Andrews A, et al. Measuring the health environment for physical activity and nutrition among youth: a review of the literature and applications for community initiatives. *Prev Med* 2000; 31(Suppl):S98-S111.
- Ritenbaugh C, Teufel-Shone NI, Aickin MG, et al. A lifestyle intervention improves plasma insulin levels among Native American high school youth. *Prev Med.* 2003; 36:309-319.
- Roberton, MA. Changing motor patterns during childhood. In M. V. Ridenour (Ed.), *Motor Development: Issues and Applications*. Minneapolis: Burgess, 1984.
- Roberts CK, Barnard RJ, Scheck SH, Balon TW. Exercise-stimulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle is nitric oxide dependent. *Am J Physiol* 1997; 273(1 Pt 1):E220-5.
- Robertson EB, Skinner ML, Love MM, Elder GH, Conger RD, Dubas JS, Petersen AC. The Pubertal Development Scale: a rural and suburban comparison. *Journal of Early Adolescence* 1992; 12(2):174-186.
- Robinson TN. Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 1999; 282:1561-1567.
- Roemmich JN, Gurgol CM, Epstein LH. Open-loop feedback increases physical activity of youth. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2004; 36:668-673.
- Rolls BJ, Roe LS, Kral TVE, et al. Increasing the portion size of a packaged snack increases energy intake in men and women. *Appetite* 2004; 42:63-69.
- Rosenbloom AL, Joe JR, Young RS, Winter WE. Emerging epidemic of type 2 diabetes in youth. *Diabetes Care* 1999; 22(2):345-54.
- Rowland TW. Developmental Exercise Physiology. Champaign: Human Kinetics. 1996; 173-192.
- Rubin DA. *The insulin response to moderate intensity 30-minute swim in healthy active individuals.* MA Thesis, University of North Carolina, 2001.
- Sallis JF, Buono MJ, Roby JJ, et al. Seven-day recall and other physical activity self-reports in children and adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1993; 25:99-108.
- Sallis JF, Condon SA, Goggin KJ, et al. The development of self-administered physical activity survey for 4th grade students. *Res Quart Exerc Sport* 1993; 64:24-31.
- Sallis JF, Strikemiller PK, Harsha DW, et al. Validation of interviewer- and self-administered physical activity checklist for fifth grade students. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1996; 28:840-851.
- Sallis JF, McKenzie TL, Alcaraz JE, Kolody B, Faucette N, Hovell MF. The effects of a 2-year physical education program (SPARK) on physical activity and fitness in elementary school students. Sports, Play and Active Recreation for Kids. *Am J Public Health* 1997; 87(8):1328-1334.
- Sallis JF, McKenzie TL, Conway TL, Elder JP, Prochaska JJ, Brown M, Zive MM, Marshall SJ, Alcaraz JE. Environmental interventions for eating and physical activity: a randomized controlled trial in middle schools. *Am J Prev Med* 2003; 24:209-217.
- Saltin B, Lindgarde F, Houston M, et al. Physical training and glucose tolerance in middle-aged men with chemical diabetes. *Diabetes* 1979; 28(Suppl 1):30-32.
- Sarkin JA, Sallis JF, Marshall SJMTL, Sarkin AJ. Age-related decline in physical activity in obese and nonobese children [abst]. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1996; 28(5 Suppl):S32.
- Scott CR, Smith JM, Cradock M, Pihoker C. Characteristics of youth-onset noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus at diagnosis. *Pediatrics* 1997;

100(1):84-91.

- Seefeldt V, Haubenstricker J. Patterns, phases, or stages: an analytical model for the study of developmental movement. In JA Kelso and JE Clark (eds.), *The Development of Movement Control and Coordination*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1982.
- Sexton K, Adgate JL, Church TR, Greaves IA, Ramachandran G, Fredrickson AL, Geisser MS, Ryan AD. Recruitment, retention, and compliance results from a probability study of children's environmental health in economically disadvantaged neighborhoods. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2003; 111:731-6.

Simons-Morton BG, Parcel GS, Baranowski T, et al. Promoting physical activity and a healthful diet among children: results of a school-based intervention study. *Am J Public Health* 1991; 81:986-991.

Skinner JS, Wilmore KM, Krasnoff JB, Jaskolski A, Jaskolska A, Gagnon J, Province MA, Leon AS, Rao DC, Wilmore JH, et al. Adaptation to a standardized training program and changes in fitness in a large, heterogeneous population: the HERITAGE Family Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000; 32(1):57-161.

Stone EJ, McKenzie TL, Welk GJ, Booth ML. Effects of physical activity interventions in youth: review and synthesis. *Am J Prev Med* 1998; 15:298-315.

- STOPP-T2D Prevention Study Group. Presence of diabetes risk factors in a large US 8th grade cohort. *Diabetes Care* (in press).
- Story M, Lytle LA, Birnbaum AS, Perry CL. Peer-led, school-based nutrition education for young adolescents: feasibility and process evaluation of the TEENS study. J Sch Health 2002; 72(3):121-127.
- Subar AF, Ziegler RG, Patterson BH, Ursin G, Graubard B. US dietary patterns associated with fat intake: the 1987 National Health Interview Survey. *Am J Public Health* 1994; 84:359-366.
- Tell GS, Vellar OD. Physical fitness, physical activity, and cardiovascular disease risk factors in adolescents: the Oslo Youth Study. *Prev Med* 1988; 17:12-24.
- Teufel NI, Ritenbaugh CK. Development of a primary prevention program: insight gained in the Zuni Diabetes Prevention Program. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* 1998; 37(2):131-141.
- Tompkinson GR, Olds TS, Gulbin J. Secular trends in physical performance of Australian children. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 2003; 43:90-98.
- Treviño RP, Pugh JA, Hernandez AE, Menchaca VD, Ramirez RR, Mendoza M. Bienestar: a diabetes risk-factor prevention program. *J Sch Health* 1998; 68(2):62-67.
- Treviño RP, Yin Z, Hernandez A, et al. Impact of the Bienestar school-based diabetes mellitus prevention program on fasting capillary glucose levels. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004; 158:911-917.
- Troiano RP, Briefel RR, Carroll MD, Bialostosky K. Energy and fat intakes of children and adolescents in the United States: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2000; 72 (suppl):1343S-53S.
- Troiano RP, Flegal KM. Overweight children and adolescents: description, epidemiology, and demographics. *Pediatrics* 1998; 101(3):497-504.
- Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louberanta A, Tastas M, Salminen V, Uusitupa M, Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study Group. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 2001; 344(18):343-1350.
- Utter J, Neumark-Sztainer D, Jeffery R, Story M. Couch potatoes or french fries: are sedentary behaviors associated with body mass index, physical, activity, and dietary behaviors among adolescents? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2003; 103:1298-1305.

Viru A. Plasma hormones and physical exercise. Int J Sports Med 1992;13:201-209.

- Visscher TL, Seidell JC. The public health impact of obesity. *Annu Rev Public Health* 2001; 22:355-375.
- Vukovich MD, Arciero PJ, Kohrt WM, Racette SB, Hansen PA, Holloszy JO. Changes in insulin

action and GLUT-4 with 6 days of inactivity in endurance runners. *J Appl Physiol* 1996; 80(1):240-244.

- Wasserman DH. Regulation of glucose fluxes during exercise in the postabsorptive state. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1995; 57:191-218.
- Wildey MB, Pampalone SZ, Pelletier RL, Zive MM, Elder JP, Sallis JF. Fat and sugar levels are high in snacks purchased from student stores in middle schools. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2000; 100:319-322.
- Winder WW, Hickson RC, Hagberg JM, et al. Training-induced changes in hormonal and metabolic responses to submaximal exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 1979; 46:766-771.
- Wing RR. Use of very-low-calorie diets in the treatment of obese persons with noninsulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1995; 95:569 572.
- Wolf AM, Colditz GA. Current estimate of the economic cost of obesity in the United States. *Obesity Research* 1998; 6(2):97-106.

14 APPENDIX

14.1 List of Abbreviations

BMI	Body Mass Index
CBI	Computer Based Intervention
CBL	Central Blood Laboratory
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DAC	Dietary Assessment Center
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program
DSMB	Data Safety Monitoring Board
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire
FLÀSH	Fun Learning Activities for Student Health
FLOW	Fitness Laboratory on Wheels
FS	Food Service
FWA	Federal Wide Assurance
GEE	Generalized Estimating Equations
HAT	Health Action Team
HDL	High Density Lipoproteins
HPC	Health Promotion Coordinator
HPCA	Health Promotion Coordinator Assistant
HUI	Health Utilities Index
IFG	Impaired Fasting Glucose
IGT	Impaired Glucose Tolerance
IRB	Institutional Review Board
LDL	Low Density Lipoproteins
20-MST	20-Meter Shuttle Test
MVPA	Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity
NIDDK	National Institute of Diabetes & Digestive & Kidney Diseases
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NSLP	National School Lunch Program
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
PAC	Physical Activity Coordinator
PDA	Personal Digital Assistant
PDPAR	Previous Day Physical Activity Recall
PDS	Pubertal Development Scale
PE	Physical Education
PWC	Physical Work Capacity

QALY(S)	Quality-Adjusted Life Year(S)
Q/A	Question and Answer
QDC	Qualitative Data Core
RA	Research Assistant
RD	Research Dietitian
SAPAC	Self-Administered Physical Activity Checklist
SBP	School Breakfast Program
SSL	Secure Socket Layer
STOPP-T2D	Studies to Treat Or Prevent Pediatric Type 2 Diabetes
TEE	Total Energy Expenditure
TV	Television
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
USDHHS	United States Department of Health and Human Services

14.2 Previous Prevention Study Group Research Activities

The current protocol represents the culmination of a series of pilot and feasibility studies conducted by the Prevention Study Group in preparation for the primary prevention trial. To ensure a robust intervention for the primary prevention trial, the study group has conducted the following pilot studies of the various intervention components separately and in combination:

Study	OGTT Feasibility Study
Schedule	Winter 2003
Sample	8 th graders in 12 schools, 4 at each of 3 field centers (Baylor, UCI, and UNC)
Primary Purpose	 Assess the feasibility of collecting measurements, including a 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), in the middle school setting. Determine the prevalence of pre-diabetes and type 2 diabetes among 8th grade school children.
Data Collected	 Health screening including age; race/ethnicity; anthropometrics (body mass index, waist circumference, triceps and subscapular skinfolds); blood pressure; fasting insulin, glucose, proinsulin, lipids, HbA1c, and C-peptide; 2 hour post glucose load insulin, glucose, and C-peptide; presence of acanthosis nigricans; prescription medications; and pubertal status. Family history, medical history, and demographic characteristics provided by parent/guardian. Process evaluation including documentation of recruitment efforts and post study focus aroung and interviews with students and parents to gauge
	reaction.
Primary Findings	The study demonstrated that a representative sample of 8 th grade students participated in a health screening (representative in terms of gender, race/ethnicity, and proportion with BMI $\ge 85^{th}$ percentile). Further, high participation in a school based diabetes screening was feasible (55% overall). Students, parents, teachers, and administrators appeared highly interested in obesity and diabetes and in participating in the assessment procedures. The data also indicated a significant presence of three risk factors for type 2

diabetes: 49% of the sample had BMI percentile \geq 85, 40.5% had fasting
glucose \geq 100 mg/dl, and 36.3% had fasting insulin \geq 30 uU/ml. Few children
(<1%) were found to have undiagnosed type 2 diabetes, suggesting that
changes in diabetes prevalence could not serve as a main outcome for the trial.

Study	Physical Education Intervention Pilot Study
Schedule	Fall 2003
Sample	6 th and 7 th graders in 6 schools, 2 from each of 3 sites (Baylor, UCI, and UNC)
Primary Purpose	Evaluate the ability of the 8-week PE class intervention to engage students in activity and attain targeted levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), defined as heart rate \geq 140 beats per minute measured by heart rate monitor. The intervention consisted of study-provided lesson plans and equipment, a 16-hour PE teacher training, a teaching assistant at each school, and a physical activity coordinator at each field center to coordinate implementation.
Data Collected	 Heart rate during PE class. In-class observation of student activity. Post-class student self-survey of reaction to class activities. Process evaluation post-study interviews with PE teachers, school and study staff.
Primary Findings	About 45% of classes achieved the target amount of MVPA. Children enjoyed being active. Repetitive activities bored students, while increasing activity levels was associated with a perceived reduction in discipline problems. Formative research interviews and focus groups with school principals and PE teachers indicated a willingness to adopt lesson plans with a greater emphasis on MVPA as well as the need to create a program with enough flexibility to account for differences in PE programs across schools.

Study	Nutrition Intervention Pilot Study
Schedule	Winter 2004
Sample	food service areas in 6 schools, 2 from each of 3 sites (Baylor, UCI, and UNC)
Primary Purpose	Evaluate the feasibility of a 6-week intervention to implement 13 specific alterations to nutrition activities and services in middle school food services in order to provide greater availability of healthier food options in the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) meal, snack bar/a la carte foods, and vending areas. The intervention consisted of training, monitoring, and technical support provided by an experienced research dietitian to food service administrators and workers.
Data Collected	 Inventory, production, and sales data NSLP participation rates. Additional hours of labor used.

	• Process evaluation observation and interviews both during the intervention and post study.
Primary Findings	Most of the food service changes to the NSLP meal and snack bar/a la carte foods were successfully implemented. Of the 6 schools, 5 attained the objective of at least 75% (10 out of 13) goals and the other attained 70%. Changes related to vending machines were more difficult because vending machines were not necessarily under the control of the school food service.

Study	Integrated Pilot Study
Schedule	Fall 2004
Sample	6 th graders in 7 schools (1 per field center)
Primary Purpose	Test ability to implement and integrate an 8-week multi-component intervention of changes to the PE class and the school food service, enhanced by a school-wide communications campaign of activities, education, and promotion. The PE component expanded personnel training and developed individual lessons into unit plans to allow PE teachers to more easily incorporate MVPA activities into their classes. The nutrition component adjusted and added school nutrition goals targeting high fiber to goals for water, sweetened beverages, fruits and vegetables, and fat content in meals and snacks. A school-based Health Action Team assisted in the delivery of educational and promotional messages and events.
Data Collected	 Student gender, age, race/ethnicity, height and weight, pre and post fitness, activity level (accelerometry), self-report sedentary behaviors, food and nutrient intake (24-hour dietary recall), psychosocial behaviors (self-efficacy, intrinsic motivation, norms), and end of study aided and unaided recall. PE in-class observation of student and teacher. Food service inventory and production records. Academic performance by school-wide standardized test scores, attendance, and comportment. Process evaluation of dose, reach, and fidelity by staff survey, focus group, and interview.
Primary Findings	Overall 62% of 6 th grade students enrolled in the study. The nutrition intervention met its objective of food service goal attainment. For the PE intervention, 57% of students who wore heart rate monitors in PE class attained average heart rate \geq 140 bpm, 35% of the time the recorded students spent at least half of the class period in MVPA, and there was a slight improvement in fitness from baseline to 8 weeks. The study name was recalled unaided by 79% of students interviewed, however recall of study messages was poor. Health Action Teams implemented from 3 to 6 activities.

Study	Behavior Intervention Pilot Study
Schedule	Fall 2005

Sample	6 th graders in 7 schools (1 per field center)
Primary Purpose	Evaluate ability to implement the core components of a behavioral intervention—i.e., brief classroom activities, individual/group behavior change initiatives, and family outreach—and establish their feasibility and acceptability to stakeholders including youth, families, and school faculty and staff.
Data Collected	• Student gender, age, race/ethnicity, height and weight, self-report health related quality of life, peer network survey, and end of study aided and unaided recall.
	• Food service orders and sales of water and sweetened beverages.
	• Process evaluation of dose, reach, and fidelity by staff survey, focus group, and interview.
Primary Findings	(Not available at this time.)

Study	PE Intervention Pilot Study
Schedule	Fall 2005
Sample	1-2 PE teachers and 7 th -8 th grade PE classes in 7 schools (1 per field center)
Primary Purpose	 To study the use of techniques to improve the skills of the physical activity coordinator to work with the local physical education (PE) teacher, including ongoing training and motivational strategies to get buy-in and compliance. To implement and test the feasibility of the new units of instruction with 7th and 8th grade students.
Data Collected	In-class observation, survey, and interview data.
Primary Findings	(Not available at this time.)

In addition, formative research has been conducted to inform the design and development of the intervention components. Data have been collected in focus groups and interviews from students, parents, and school staff and faculty.